DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

3 March 2021
7.00 pm
Virtual

Contact
Ian.Smith
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk
01923 278323
For further information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website.

Publication date: 23 February 2021

Committee Membership
Councillor P Jeffree (Chair)
Councillor S Johnson (Vice-Chair)
Councillors N Bell, K Collett, M Mills, J Pattinson, I Sharpe, R Smith and M Watkin

Agenda
Part A – Open to the Public
CONDUCT OF THE MEETING
The committee will take items in the following order:
1. All items where people wish to speak and have registered with Democratic
Services.
2. Any remaining items the committee agrees can be determined without further
debate.
3. Those applications which the committee wishes to discuss in detail.
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Disclosure of interests

3.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2021 to be submitted and signed.

4.

20/00646/FUL - 15 - 17 Greycaine Road, Watford, WD24 7GP (Pages 5 - 18)

5.

20/00671/FULM Exchange House 60 Exchange Road (Pages 19 - 68)

6.

19/00778/FULM - Land To The North Of Thomas Sawyer Way (Pages 69 - 124)

Introduction
Please note that the officer report is a summary of the issues including representations
made and consultation responses. Full details of the applications, plans submitted,
supporting information and documents, representations made, consultation responses
and correspondence can be found on the council’s web based Public Access system using
the application reference or address.
Specific policy considerations for each application are detailed within the individual
reports. The background papers and policy framework listed below have been relied upon
in the preparation of the reports in this agenda.
Background papers
 The current planning applications under consideration and correspondence related
to that application.
 All relevant third party representations and consultation replies received.
Policy Framework
 The Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with relevant
Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance listed
below:
Local Planning Documents
Local Development Documents provide the framework for making planning decisions.
These can be found on the Council’s website and include:
 the existing Local Plan which consists of the Core Strategy, saved policies in the
Watford District Plan 2000 and Proposals Map); and
 Supplementary Planning Documents.
County Planning Documents
The Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan and Minerals Local Plan prepared by Hertfordshire
County Council are material considerations alongside the Watford Local Plan. These
documents can be found on the county council’s website.
National Planning Documents
Key legislation can be found using this weblink, including:
 Growth and Infrastructure Act (2013)
 Housing and Planning Act (2016)







Localism Act (2011) and subsequent amendments
Planning Act (2008) and subsequent amendments
Planning and Compulsory Planning Act (2004) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning Act (1990) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and
subsequent amendments.

National guidance can be found on the government service and information website,
including:
 National Planning Policy Framework (revised February 2019) and supporting
Technical Guidance
 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (web based)
 Planning policy for traveller sites
 Relevant government circulars
 Relevant Ministerial Statements (which will be referred to in the individual reports
as necessary)
Section 106 Planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with effect from 1 April
2015. The CIL charge covers a wide range of infrastructure as set out in the Council’s
Regulation 123 list, including highways and transport improvements, education provision,
youth facilities, childcare facilities, children’s play space, adult care services, open space
and sports facilities. CIL is chargeable on the relevant net additional floorspace created by
the development. The charge is non-negotiable and is calculated at the time that planning
permission is granted where relevant. Section 106 planning obligations can only be used
to secure affordable housing provision and other site specific requirements, such as the
removal of entitlement to parking permits in Controlled Parking Zones and the provision of
fire hydrants.
Human Rights implications
The Local Planning Authority is justified in interfering with the applicant’s human rights in
order to alleviate any adverse effect on adjoining properties and their occupiers and on
general public amenity. With regard to any infringement of third party human rights,
these are not considered to be of such a nature and degree as to override the human
rights of the applicant and therefore warrant refusal of planning permission.

Agenda Item 4

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward

Wednesday, 3 March 2021
20/00646/FUL - 15 - 17 Greycaine Road, Watford,
WD24 7GP
Retrospective change of use from Class E (Light Industrial)
to Class B8 (Storage and Distribution) use at 15 Greycaine
Road, permission for a 5 metre high acoustic barrier at 15
and 17 Greycaine Road and retrospective permission for
floodlighting at 15 Greycaine Road.
GAP Group Ltd
Carter Jonas LLP
Full Planning Permission
Number of Objections
Thursday 4 March 2021
Neighbour Letters and Site Notice
Andrew Clarke, andrew.clarke@watford.gov.uk
Tudor

1.

Recommendation

1.1

That planning permission be granted subject to conditions, as set out in
section 8 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The subject site comprises numbers 15 and 17 Greycaine Road. Together
these two connected sites are 0.91 hectares in size. The sites are located
within the Greycaine Employment Area (E6b) which is allocated for B1
(Business), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 (Storage and Distribution) uses. The
site is subject to an Article 4 direction which removes permitted development
rights to change offices (B1a), light industrial (B1c) and storage and
distribution (B8) into residential use.

2.2

The subject site is on the eastern boundary of the Greycaine Employment
Area, beyond which are the rear garden boundaries of the semi-detached
dwellinghouses on Tudor Walk. This linear boundary which is approximately
150m long is defined by an approximately 2 metre high timber fence and is
lined with trees and hedges.

2.3

The site is not within a conservation area, contains no listed buildings and is
not close to any listed buildings. There are no protected trees within or

Page 5

adjacent to the site. Watford North Railway Station is approximately 300
metres walk to the west on Bushey Mill Lane.
3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal
This proposal seeks a retrospective change of use from Class E (Light
Industrial) to Class B8 (Storage and Distribution) use at 15 Greycaine Road,
permission for a 5 metre high acoustic barrier at 15 and 17 Greycaine Road
and retrospective permission for floodlighting at 15 Greycaine Road.

3.2

This application would regularise existing development on the site.

3.3

Conclusion
The proposed change of use to storage and distribution is in accordance with
the current employment site designation and is considered acceptable,
subject to the installation of the acoustic barrier and other measures to be
secured by planning condition. The floodlighting is considered to be
appropriate in terms of potential light spillage and would be acceptable. The
proposal would be in accordance with policies within the Development Plan
and is recommended for approval.

4.

Relevant policies

4.1

Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.

5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1

GAP Group operate across both sites at numbers 15 and 17 Greycaine Road.
Number 15 Greycaine Road is 0.64 hectares in size and is to the north of
number 17 which is smaller at 0.27 hectares in size. GAP group are the
freehold owners of 15 and leasehold owners of 17.

5.2

GAP Group have operated a plant and tool hire business from number 17
Greycaine for over 10 years. As such, the current B8 (storage and distribution)
use of number 17 is considered lawful by the passage of time.

5.3

In late 2015 GAP Group acquired the adjacent site at number 15 for their nonmechanical hire business. Prior to being owned by GAP Group number 15
contained a factory building and was used by a business which manufactured

Page 6

precision optical instruments. The former use of 15 Greycaine Road for the
manufacture of precision optical instruments is considered to fall in current
use Class E (Commercial, Business and Service). Before Use Class E was
introduced, the use would have been considered B1c (Light Industrial).
5.4

In April 2016 planning permission 16/00177/FUL was refused for the erection
of a maintenance shed on part of the site at 15 Greycaine Road. This
application was refused due to insufficient information about how the
potential for noise would be managed and mitigated, it did not challenge the
principle of employment use on the site. The decision notice invited the
applicant to submit a further application for 15 Greycaine Road accompanied
by a noise survey and appropriate noise mitigation measures.

5.5

Use Class E was introduced on 1st September 2020 by “The Town and Country
Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020”. This new
use class grouped former A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services),
A3 (Food and Drink), B1 (Business) with selected D1 (Non-residential
institutions) and D2 (Assemble and Leisure) uses. In relation to permitted
development rights these amended use class regulations state that use classes
in effect prior to 1st September 2020 will be the ones used until the 31st July
2021. Use Class B8 (storage and distribution) is unchanged by the amended
use class order.

5.6

Pre-application advice was sought prior to the submission of this application.
The proposal was amended following submission in response to officer
feedback. The amended proposal was re consulted upon. The site is currently
the subject of a long standing planning enforcement investigation owing to
the unauthorised nature of the use.

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of this applications are:
(a) Principle of the use
(b) Design and impact on local character
(c) Access and transport
(d) Impact on amenity of adjoining residential properties
(e) Environmental considerations

6.2

(a) Principle of the use
The current use of 15 Greycaine Road for which permission is now sought is
considered to constitute a B8 (Storage and Distribution) use which is the same
as the established use at number 17. Policy E1 of Watford’s District Plan 2000

Page 7

sets out that a change of use to storage and distribution (B8) uses within the
Greycaine Employment area will be supported in principle, provided that
there is good vehicle access and the proposed development does not give rise
to unacceptable levels of traffic, noise or pollution. As such, the principle of
the use is considered to accord with policy E1, subject to consideration of
detailed matters.
6.3

(b) Design and Impact on local character
The eastern boundary of the subject sites is shared with numbers 37 to 79
(odds) Tudor Walk. The boundary is approximately 150m in length and lined
with trees and hedges. The garden lengths of these neighbouring properties
vary considerably. Number 37 Tudor Walk, the property with the shortest
garden has a garden depth of approximately 20m from the rear wall of the
dwelling. Number 79 has the longest garden at approximately 65m.

6.4

The proposed acoustic barrier would be 150m in length and 5 metres in height
spanning the entire eastern boundary of both numbers 15 and 17 Greycaine
Road. It would be set back between 3 to 5m within the subject site along the
entire length. Within the 3 to 5 metre gap, trees would be retained and an
additional 17 trees and climbing ivy planted, softening the appearance of the
barrier. Details of the external appearance of the barrier including its finished
colour will be secured by condition within 2 months of any approval of
planning permission.

6.5

The separation distance between the properties on Tudor Walk relative to the
height of the acoustic barrier and floodlights is considered to be acceptable in
terms of scale, not causing any unreasonable loss of light or outlook to the
rear of these properties. The proposed barrier at five metres in height would
be a similar height to industrial warehouse structures which are common
throughout the Greycaine Employment Area and would be of a scale and
visual appearance that would be appropriate within the wider context of the
industrial estate.

6.6

(c) Access and transport
The Greycaine Employment Area has good vehicle access from both the M1
and A41 which suits a storage and distribution use. The site is close to
Watford North Railway Station and bus stops on St Albans Road which provide
good transport connections for employees. The access to the site is
considered sufficient to accord with policy E1 of the Watford District Plan.

6.7

(d) Impact on amenity of adjoining residential properties
The two main factors with the potential to impact on residential amenity of
dwellings on Tudor Walk, are noise and light.

Page 8

6.8

Noise
Policy SE22 of Watford’s District Plan 2000 relates to noise and states that the
Council will seek to ensure the separation of noise sensitive uses from noisegenerating development or from areas where there are future potential
sources of noise. However, Policy SE22 goes on to state where separation
cannot be achieved, the Council may impose conditions or obligations to
mitigate the effect of noise nuisance by reduction at the source, design and
layout, or by limiting times of operation. The existing and historic situation
finds an established residential neighbourhood in close proximity to a
designated and protected employment area and therefore separation
between these uses cannot be achieved. The application proposes mitigation
at source that can be secured through condition, which is supported in
principle by Policy SE22 as a way of ensuring these uses can mutually continue
in close proximity.

6.9

MAS Environmental Ltd were appointed by the applicant to provide a
summary noise impact assessment for numbers 15 and 17 Greycaine Road.
Although the study considers mitigation for both sites it should be considered
that the use of number 17 is lawful and could continue without the mitigation
currently proposed if planning permission were not to be granted. The
assessment provides a summary noise impact assessment following the
methodology set out in (British Standard) BS4142:2014. An environmental
noise survey was undertaken at the site to establish current site noise levels,
noise sources and existing background and ambient sound levels in the area.
This was undertaken in August 2019, before the current Covid 19 restrictions.
Key noise sources identified in the survey were used to generate a noise map
of the site and therefore design mitigation suitable for achieving acceptable
levels of impact at nearby residential dwellings.

6.10

Typical daytime background sound levels uninfluenced by activity at the GAP
site were in the region of 42dB (decibels) at ground floor level. General site
activity, such as loading and unloading equipment, resulted in average noise
levels in the region of 50-54dB. When generators were running near to the
survey microphone higher site noise levels in the region of 62-65dB were
measured. Noise levels within the 62-65dB range are typical of a commercial
area or in a busy road.

6.11

Compared to the existing situation, the acoustic barrier proposed would
provide a significant improvement in noise levels to nearby dwellings. The
difference in levels between rated (site) noise and background sound would
represent a minimum reduction of a halving of loudness and indicates that
substantial reductions in noise impact would be achieved.

Page 9

6.12

Council Environmental Heath officers, who reviewed the noise report noted
that as modelled the acoustic barrier does not prevent the occurrences of
noise at a level which could potentially cause a nuisance to the upstairs rooms
of some adjacent properties with shorter gardens. For this reason a condition
which prevents unneighbourly noise at the site during night time hours
between 11pm and 7am was suggested by Environmental Health officers.

6.13

The planning statement suggests that the GAP sites typically operate from
07:30 – 18:00 Monday to Friday although on occasion they work slightly
outside of these hours or at weekends. The typical hours of operation of the
current occupier are reasonable. However, if planning permission were to be
granted unconditionally there would be no guarantee that either the current
occupier or any future occupier would not wish to operate the site for longer
hours in future. Given the potential to cause a noise nuisance to neighbouring
residents if this were to happen a condition is recommended which would
restrict activity at 15 Greycaine Road to between the hours of 0700 to 2000 on
Mondays to Saturdays and 1000 to 1700 on Sundays and Bank Holidays only.
These hours of operation are considered to strike a reasonable balance in
ensuring appropriate flexibility to allow the current and any future business to
continue operating within this designated employment site whilst also
preventing unreasonable harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents
during unsocial hours.

6.14

Within the planning statement the applicant has proposed additional noise
mitigation measures. These measures include the replacement of tonal
reverse alarms with white noise reverse alarms on all vehicles operating at or
visiting the site and the replacement of the pressure washer currently used at
15 Greycaine Road with a quieter model that has the same sound power level
(or lower) as that of the electric pressure washer currently used at 17
Greycaine Road. These measures will be secured by condition.

6.15 The GAP sites and the surrounding Greycaine Employment area is typified by
industrial, noise generating uses which are not subject to any operational
restrictions covering their use or hours. Undoubtedly, the historic juxtapositioning of the Employment Area with residential uses can create levels of
noise disturbance to residential occupiers beyond what might be expected
elsewhere. The proposed acoustic barrier would improve the current situation
with regards to noise and should be suitable to ensure that during the day
time noise levels are appropriate within that context. However, if excessive
noise, beyond what can be considered reasonable for the context is
experienced this can be investigated by the Council’s Environmental Health
team.

Page 10

6.16 It is therefore considered that the proposed acoustic barrier, together with a
suitable hours of operation condition, that would reasonably mitigate the
effect of noise is in accordance with Policy SE22 of Watford’s District Plan
2000.
6.17

Light
Policy SE23 of the Watford District Plan 2000 relates to light and states that
external lighting proposals will only be approved where it can be
demonstrated that the lighting minimises the potential pollution from glare
and light spillage and would not have an adverse impact on residential
amenity.

6.18

Herrington Consulting Ltd were appointed by the applicant to provide an
external light impact assessment for numbers 15 and 17 Greycaine Road.
Their assessment considers glare and light spillage outside of the site and
impacts to residential windows on the rear of the adjacent properties on
Tudor Walk.

6.19

Ten floodlights have been erected within 15 Greycaine Road. Although other
external lighting does exist on the sites these floodlights are the primary
consideration. Of the 10 new floodlights, 5 are along the eastern boundary
with Tudor Walk, close to the proposed acoustic barrier. These floodlights
each have a pair of 150 watt LED lights fixed to them, fixed at an angle of 25
degrees off horizontal facing into the site. The floodlights would only be used
when ambient lighting conditions dictate, typically when twilight falls.

6.20

The floodlighting scheme has been analysed using modelling to calculate
potential light spill around the site. Given that the floodlighting is directed into
the site, and the presence of the acoustic barrier, illuminance levels would be
low at the boundary of the site. The impact to the rear windows of the
dwellings on Tudor Walk would be negligible.

6.21

(e) Environmental considerations
Hayden’s Arboricultural Consultants Ltd were appointed to provide a tree
protection plan and a tree planting plan for numbers 15 and 17 Greycaine
Road. The plan assesses the condition of the existing trees, their constraints
upon the prospective acoustic barrier and the necessary protection and
construction specifications required to allow their retention. None of the trees
within or adjacent to the site are covered by Tree Protection Orders.

6.22

The primary constraint in attempting to erect an acoustic barrier is the conflict
in space between the ideal location of the installation and the location of the

Page 11

existing trees. Significant lengths of the fence will intrude within the root
protection areas of retained trees, though this intrusion is limited and would
not harm the health of the trees. The solution proposed allows the majority of
trees to be retained and for a straight run of fencing. The most significant
trees are also to be retained.
6.23

Two cherry trees, one ash tree and a line of eleven cypress trees would be
felled to permit construction of the barrier. In compensation for this loss the
tree planting schedule indicates that ‘Boston Ivy’ would be planted at 15
locations along the fence and seventeen cypress trees would be planted in a
position close to those being removed, though further away from the barrier.
The ivy would climb the barrier over time softening the appearance of the site
from the neighbouring gardens. The existing and new planting would be
maintained by GAP.

6.24

The loss of trees is considered acceptable on the basis that new planting
would be introduced and it would facilitate the construction of an acoustic
barrier. The tree protection plan and the tree planting plan will form approved
documents within any approval.

7

Consultation responses received

7.1

Internal Consultees
Name of Internal
Consultee
Arboricultural Officer

Comment

Officer Response

Loss of trees accepted
subject to the proposed
replanting.
Environmental Health Support the acoustic
barrier, though suggested
hours condition to prevent
night time working which
could cause a noise
disturbance.
7.2

Noted.

Conditioning hours of
operation is addressed in
paragraph 6.12 – 6.13.

Interested Parties
Letters were sent to 143 properties in the surrounding area. 32 Objections
were received in response. The main comments are summarised below, the
full letters are available to view online:
Comments

Officer response

Page 12

Use of the site by
GAP for Storage and
Distribution

The B8 (Storage and Distribution) use would be
acceptable in principle within the Greycaine
Employment Area (E6b) subject to no significant
detrimental effects on surrounding amenities.

Hours of operation

Restricting the hours of operation is not considered
appropriate. This is discussed in the paragraph 6.13.
The measures proposed by this application would
significantly reduce noise levels at the neighbouring
dwellings and are discussed in paragraphs 6.8 – 6.16.
The lighting would not cause any significant harm to
neighbouring dwellings. This is discussed at paragraphs
6.17 – 6.20.
The closest distance from the rear of any house to the
acoustic barrier is 20 metres. This distance would not
cause any significant loss of outlook or light.
The additional planting is considered to sufficiently
compensate for the loss of trees. This is discussed at
paragraphs 6.21 – 6.24.

Noise to
neighbouring
residential dwellings
Lighting

Loss of outlook / light
from dwellinghouses
on Tudor Walk
Loss of trees

8

Recommendation
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions:
1. Details of Acoustic Barrier
Details of the proposed acoustic barrier, which shall be 5m in height above
ground level and have a minimum sound reduction value of not less than
30dB, including its external appearance, shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority within a period of 2 months commencing on the date of
this permission. The approved acoustic barrier shall be constructed within 4
months of the date that it is approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To regularise the existing unauthorised use and to safeguard the
residential amenity of nearby dwellings on Tudor Walk.
2. Approved Drawings and Documents
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved drawings and documents:
 Site Location Plan

Page 13

 Existing Site Plan. Drawing Number: J0037354_002_C. By: Carter Jonas.
Dated: 19.06.20.
 Proposed Site Plan. Drawing Number: J0037354_003_D. By: Carter
Jonas. Dated: 03.12.20.
 Site Sections. Drawing Number: J0037354_004_A. By: Carter Jonas.
Dated: 19.06.20.
 Access and Movement Plan. Drawing Number: J0037354_005_D. By:
Carter Jonas. Dated: 03.12.20.
 Planning Statement. By: Carter Jonas. Dated: June 2020
 Topographical Survey. By: Carter Jonas. Dated 15/05/2020
 Transport Survey. Document Reference: 2005-014/TS/01. By: Transport
Planning Associates. Dated: June 2020
 Summary Noise Impact Assessment. Document Reference:
GAPWat201210. Dated: 10th December 2020. By: MAS Environmental
 External Lighting Impact Assessment. Dated 22nd May 2020. By:
Herrington Consulting
 Tree Protection Plan. By: Hayden’s Arboricultural Consultants. Revision:
B. Dated 11/12/2020
 Drawing Number: 8147-D-TPP-Final Option. By: Hayden’s Arboricultural
Consultants. Revision: B. Dated: 08.12.20
 Tree Planting Scheme. Drawing Number: 8524-D-TPS. By: Hayden’s
Arboricultural Consultants. Dated: 15.12.20
 Ecology Report. Document Reference: 4957 – 17 Greycaine Road –
Ecology Letter – 2006-12gg.doc. By: Eight associates.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. Hours of Operation
The hours of activity which would be audible from the site boundary at 15,
Greycaine Road hereby permitted shall be restricted to between the hours of
0700 to 2000 on Mondays to Saturdays and 1000 to 1700 on Sundays and
Bank Holidays only.
Reason: To protect the amenity of adjacent residential uses in accordance
Policy SE22 of Watford’s District Plan 2000.
4. Noise
The following noise minimisation measures, as noted in section 4.19 of the
Planning Statement shall be implemented within a period of 3 months
commencing on the date of this permission:

Page 14

 Replacement of tonal reverse alarms with white noise reverse alarms
on all vehicles operating at or visiting the site.
 Replacement of pressure washer currently used at 15 Greycaine Road
with a quieter model that has the same sound power level (or lower) as
that of the electric pressure washer currently used at 17 Greycaine
Road.
Reason: To protect the amenity of adjacent residential uses in accordance
with Policy SE22 of Watford’s District Plan 2000.
5. Planting
The planting depicted on drawing number: 8524-D-TPS shall be carried out not
later than the first available planting and seeding season after completion of
the acoustic barrier. Any trees or plants whether new or existing which within
a period of five years die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar
size and species, or in accordance with details approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site, in accordance
with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.
Informatives
1.
2.
3.
4.

IN907 – Positive and proactive statement
IN910 – Building Regulations
IN911 – Party Wall Act
IN912 – Hours of Construction

Page 15

Site Location Plan

Page 16

Proposed Site Plan

Page 17

Proposed Cross Sections

Page 18

Agenda Item 5
Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward

Wednesday, 3 March 2021
20/00671/FULM Exchange House, 60 Exchange Road,
Watford WD18 0JJ
Demolition of existing building and redevelopment to a 5
to 21 storey building to provide 263 residential units (C3),
74sqm (GEA) D1/D2 floor space and associated
infrastructure, landscaping, cycle and disabled parking
60 Exchange Road Ltd
Sphere25
Major Development Full Planning Permission
Major Development
22nd March 2021
Site notice, paper advertisement and neighbour letters
Alice Reade, alice.reade@watford.gov.uk
Central

1.

Recommendation

1.1

That planning permission be granted subject to conditions, as set out in
section 8 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The site is located on the corner of the junction of Exchange Road with Upton
Road on the north-western edge of the town centre. The site of 0.53 hectares
contains a 5 storey office building built in 1964 which is listed as a building of
local interest to Watford as a non-designated heritage asset due to its design
by Richard Seifert architects and its landmark nature. The office building is
served by vehicle accesses from Upton Road and Exchange Road and contains
approximately 160 car parking spaces for the office use.

2.2

The site fronts Exchange Road which is the multi-lane one way ring road
around the town centre. Opposite is the 3-5 storey building of the former
telephone exchange. To the north is a recent 9 storey development of
commercial ground floor with residential above. Upton Road to the west
consists of 3-5 storey buildings of different uses. To the south, the two storey
terraced houses of Marlborough Road back onto the site.

2.3

The site is not within a conservation area but is close to the Civic Core
Conservation Area along the High Street to the north and St Mary’s
Conservation Area which is to the south east. The wider context also includes
listed buildings including 14-16 The Parade to the east (Grade II Listed), Grade

Page 19

I Listed Holy Rood RC church to the south and Grade I Listed Parish Church of
St Mary’s.
3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal

3.2

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing building on site and the
erection of a development as follows:
i)
ii)

iii)
iv)
v)
vi)

Residential development within a building of between 5 and 21 storeys
To contain 263 apartments comprising:
 83 no. studios
 46 no 1 bed apartments
 113 no 2 bed apartments
 21 no 3 bed apartments
A ground floor unit of 74sqm (GEA) of D1/D2 floor space for
community/leisure use
Car parking for 12 cars (9 disabled and 3 car share)
Refuse, cycle and large item storage
Publicly accessible amenity space and play area to the front of the
development

3.3

The scheme was amended during the course of the application (plans 13 th
October 2020) to respond to the comments of the Watford Place Shaping
Panel. This included a reduction in massing of the south wing from 7 to 5
storeys, a reduction of the ‘shoulder’ to the west of the tower and an addition
to the tower height from 18 to 21 storeys. These changes maintained the
same number of dwellings in the development.

3.4

Conclusion

3.5

The town centre site is considered as a central and sustainable location
suitable for higher density development. The development is significant in its
massing and height and this will be a notable addition to the skyline. It is
however considered that the proposed development achieves an effective
and bold design which is appropriate for this prominent town centre site.

3.6

The development avoids undue harm to neighbouring properties, it offers
good quality new homes with an appropriate mix of housing and a 20%
provision of affordable housing. Further public benefits including the public
accessible amenity area and children’s play space at the front of the
development and a community/leisure facility.

Page 20

3.7

The design has incorporated amendments to respond to constructive criticism
from the Watford Place Shaping Panel which have improved the scheme. The
loss of the locally listed building is seen to be justified by the good design of
the scheme and the wider planning benefits the development offers. Subject
to appropriate materials, the visual presence of the development in the
setting of listed buildings in the area is not considered to be adversely harmful
and this less than substantial harm is outweighed by the significant public
benefits of the scheme.

4.

Relevant policies
Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.

5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1

The building has had prior approval granted for a change of use from Class
B1(a)(Offices) to Class C3 (Dwellings) to create 126 dwellings within the
existing building (Ref 16/01741/OPD).

5.2

The agent sought pre-application advice prior to submitting this proposal.

5.3

The proposed development has been reviewed by Watford’s independent
Place Shaping Panel by a full panel review on 21st July 2020 and then on 14th
September 2020 by a Chair’s review of the amended scheme. The full reports
from the two panels are in Appendix 2 and 3 to this report and the findings
are discussed within the report.

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:
(a) Principle of development
(b) Loss of the locally listed building
(c) Layout, scale and design
(d) Impacts on heritage assets
(e) Housing provision
(f) Quality of residential accommodation
(g) Impacts on surrounding properties
(h) Car parking, access and transportation

Page 21

(i) Trees and landscaping
(j) Environmental impacts
(k) Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
6.2

(a) Principle of development
The Special Policy Area for the Town Centre (SPA1 of Watford Local Plan –
Core Strategy) applies to the site and this seeks for a balanced provision of
town centre facilities and infrastructure throughout the town centre.
The draft Local Plan is currently subject to consultation and carries only
limited weight however this will also support opportunities for
transformational development within the Town Centre Core Development
area which includes this site.

6.3

The development of residential dwellings at this site and within this area of
town centre is therefore supported in accordance with SPA1 and policy HS1 of
the Local Plan Core Strategy. The addition of the community/leisure premises
at the site adds an appropriate facility for the proposed and existing
residential dwellings. It is also noted that as the site has prior approval for
conversion of this existing building to dwellings, this is a further material
planning consideration to support the principle of residential-led use of the
site.

6.4

(b) Loss of the locally listed building
The development sees the loss of the locally listed building on the site. The
current building provides value to the townscape and the town’s history in
being an example of a bold architectural office building, typical of Richard
Seifert architects, designed in the 1960s. Moreover, the significant scale and
curved frontage of the build creates a significant landmark at the corner of the
town’s ring road. It is however considered that the loss of the building is
justified in this instance due to the quality of the design of the replacement
development and the wider planning benefits it offers in respect of good
quality homes, affordable housing and public realm improvements. Following
the amendments to the scheme and the second Chair’s review of the scheme,
the Place Shaping Panel consider that the quality of the design of the
amended scheme does sufficiently justify the loss of the locally listed building.

6.5

(c) Layout, scale and design
Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-2031 sets out points
to consider in achieving high quality design for new development.
Development should create high quality new places and should respect and
enhance the character of its area.

Page 22

6.6

The proposal is for one ‘C’ shaped building with heights starting at 5 storeys to
the west wing fronting on to Exchange Road behind the Marlborough Road
properties, stepping up to 7 and 9 storey elements with a 21 storey element at
the junction of Exchange Road with Upton Road.

6.7

The town centre site is considered as a central and sustainable location
suitable for higher density development. The context includes a range of built
massing and height with 9 storey Wilmington Close to the north of the site, 2
storey terraces to the south, 3 and 4 storey buildings on Upton Road and the
substantial massing of the Telephone Exchange building opposite the site.

6.8

The proposed development is significant in its massing and height in this
context and this will be a notable addition to the skyline. It is however
considered that the proposed development achieves an effective and bold
design which is considered to sufficiently relate to the context and will be
appropriate for this prominent town centre site. The proposal is in general
accordance with the guidance in the Skyline SPD – Watford’s Approach to Tall
Buildings and is in an area where taller buildings are considered acceptable in
principle.

6.9

The tallest 21 storey building element will mark the junction of Upton Road
with Exchange Road and provide a landmark addition to the town centre
skyline. This element will also sit on the corner of the ring road corresponding
to the corner of Beechen Grove with Exchange Road where there is approval
for a 23 storey building at 37-39 Clarendon Road. The building steps down into
the site whilst maintaining the elegance of the main tower to respond to
Upton Road and the context of lower heights. The 5 storey element onto the
south wing of the building is of the same height as the existing building and
the landmark presence of this existing building is also recreated in the width
of the overall building.

6.10 The layout of the development also sees significant improvements to the
public realm, functionality and amenity of this area. The existing site
frontages to Exchange Road and Upton Road area are dominated by car
parking and a hard boundary to the pavement with little active use. The open
amenity area and residential frontages will significantly improve the visual
appearance and activity of this area.
6.11 The overall appearance of the building would be particularly striking featuring
the ‘saw-tooth’ effect to the building as created by the stepped layouts of the
dwellings. The visual appearance of the building and its proposed grey finish
does however provide some architectural reference to the building it is to
replace and to the telephone exchange building opposite the site. The

Page 23

proposed narrow brick finish would also create a clean contemporary look to
the building that would calm the angular nature of the facades. Overall, it is
considered that subject to high quality materials and finish, this would create
a dynamic architectural addition to the town.
6.12 The proposal was subject to independent design review by Watford’s Place
Shaping Panel on 21st July 2020 and a Chair’s review on 14th September 2020.
The panel’s reports are attached at Appendices 2 and 3.
6.13 Their first review on 21st July 2020 found concerns with the scheme and the
following key concerns were raised:
 As the existing office building is locally listed, its demolition can only be
justified if its replacement provides a significant architectural
improvement.
 The architectural language is overly complex, and the combination of
colour contrast between balconies and façade, faceted façade elements
and stepped massing result in a design that is unsympathetic to its
surroundings. The complexity of the form and façade design results in a
building that is too prominent for the site, and will dominate views. This
would have a negative impact on the setting of listed buildings, particularly
the view of Holy Rood Church along Exchange Road, from the north-west.
 The dwellings are not true dual aspect as they do not provide cross
ventilation to dwellings.
 Concerns regarding overheating, ventilation and energy issues.
 Suggested improvements for public realm, roof tops and water drainage.
6.14

The scheme was amended in response to these comments to include the
following key amendments:
 Massing
o Reduction to the south wing height down from 7 to 5 storeys
o Reduction of shoulder to west of the tower
o Addition to the tower height from 18 to 21 storeys
o Some ‘steps’ in the middle section have been removed to reduce
complexity
 Architectural approach/Façade –
o Mix of brick and white concrete balconies has been replaced with a
simpler palate of grey brick and metal balcony railings
 Impact to setting of heritage assets
o Amendments to massing and façade
o Additional images provided
 Public realm- Additional images provided
 Energy and ventilation – Additional details provided

Page 24

6.15

A Chair’s review panel was undertaken to consider these changes at a meeting
on 14th September 2020 and found that a significant amount of work had
been undertaken to address their comments resulting in positive changes to
the scheme. It found that simplified façade design and material changes had
resulted in a more appropriate, higher quality building that can justify the
demolition of the existing, locally listed building. The massing had improved to
better respond to the context, the tower had a greater elegance however the
panel advised that it remained to be the judgement of the LPA in respect of
finding this location appropriate for a tall building and that detailed matters
such as materials and landscaping were key to the success of the scheme.

6.16

(d) Impacts on heritage assets
The development is recognised as being visible in the setting of heritage assets
including the Grade I Listed Holy Rood RC church which is to the south and the
locally listed building Rigby House to the east. Historic England has raised
objection to both the originally submitted scheme and the revised iteration
stating that the height would create an adverse impact to the settings of these
buildings and particularly the setting of the Grade I Holy Rood church to the
south. Similar concerns were expressed by the Place Shaping Panel to the
initial scheme, particularly in views of the church from the northeast, and the
development has been amended to improve this relationship. Namely, the
height of the south wing has been reduced to 5 storeys meaning that when a
view is taken south from the development down to Holy Rood church, the
south wing of the development recreates the visual impact of the existing
building in this setting.

6.17 The tower element and its height has also been referenced in the Historic
England objection as creating a feature competing with the Holy Rood church
tower. This has been considered by the Place Shaping Panel who found that
this impact is dependent on the material palette for the building and
suggested a lighter greyer finish. The verified view images of the development
show that it is visible in the setting of the church particularly in views from the
south looking north up Exchange Road and in views from Percy Road. It is
however considered that by virtue of the relative position and distance of the
two buildings, the development would not create significant harm to the
heritage asset. The harm to its setting is therefore considered to be less than
substantial.
6.18 Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, the National Planning Policy
Framework (para 196) requires that this harm should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal. The development secures notable public
benefits including 263 new homes, including 48 affordable homes, public

Page 25

realm improvements, publically accessible amenity and play space, a
community/leisure facility, bus stop improvements and Community
Infrastructure Levy. It is considered that, in particular, the creation of new
homes, and much needed affordable homes for social rent and shared
ownership, should be given significant weight as part of the planning balance.
As the council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and
have only delivered 48% of the governments housing target over the past 3
years the NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable development would
apply. This means that the council should grant permission for new housing
unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when considered against the policies contained within
the NPPF. As such, it is considered that the key public benefits of the
development outweigh the less than substantial harm to the setting of the
Listed Building and the loss of the locally listed building.
6.19 (e) Housing provision
The development accords with Policy HS2 of the Local Plan Core Strategy and
would provide an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes as follows:
 129 no. studios and 1 bed apartments 49%
 113 no. 2 bed apartments 43%
 21 no. 3 bed apartments 8%
6.20 Policy HS3 of the Core Strategy requires a 35% provision of affordable housing
in all schemes of 10 units or more. The Core Strategy seeks a tenure mix of
65% affordable rent, 20% social rent and 15% intermediate tenures. It is
however noted that the emerging policy of the draft Local Plan will seek for
35% affordable housing and a tenure split of 60% social rent and 40%
intermediate tenures.
6.21 The development has been submitted with a viability assessment which has
been reviewed by consultants appointed by the Council. The review
undertaken by the council’s consultants has confirmed that the viability of the
development would not allow for a policy compliant affordable housing
provision and concludes that the scheme can afford to provide a commuted
sum of £258,717.
6.22 However, in recognition of the need for the proposals to provide sufficient
public benefit to justify a building of this scale and height and the less than
substantial harm identified to designated heritage assets an offer of on-site
affordable housing has been made to include 48 units of affordable housing.
This represents 18% of the units of the scheme however as larger units are
included, this would represent 20% of the scheme based on habitable rooms.

Page 26

The provision would include a tenure split in accordance with emerging policy
to include a larger social rent provision with 29 (60%) social rent homes and
19 (40%) intermediate ownership. The social rented homes would comprise 3
x 1bed/1person, 9 x 1bed/2person, 4 x 2bed3person, 6x 2bed/4person and 7
x. 3bed/5person homes. The shared ownership homes would comprise 4
x1bed/1person, 3 x 1bed/2person, 2 x 2bed/3person, 5 x 2bed/4person and 5
x 3bed/5person homes.
6.23

Although the 20% provision of affordable housing is short of the 35% target in
adopted policy, it is considered that this is an offer significantly in excess of
the viability assessment findings. The tenure and size of the dwellings would
make a significant contribution to meeting local housing needs and overall this
does represent a significant public benefit of the scheme. It is further noted
that should the existing building be converted to 126 flats under the approved
prior approval scheme, the site would deliver no affordable housing meaning
that the inclusion of 48 affordable units in this alternative scheme is
preferable.

6.24

(f) Quality of residential accommodation

6.25

Gross Internal Areas
Section 7.3.6 of the Residential Design Guide sets out the minimum Gross
Internal Areas for new dwellings in accordance with the Nationally Described
Space Standards (NDSS). The proposal provides a mix of studios, 1 bedroom, 2
bedroom and 3 bedroom units. All of the proposed units would meet the
minimum floorspace standard for the dwelling type proposed and are
compliant with the NDSS.

6.26 Dual Aspect
Although the new Local Plan has no significant weight at this time, it is noted
that it will seek more dual aspect dwellings in developments to ensure
dwellings provide better light, outlook and ventilation. Due to the form of the
building, this development would consist of predominantly single aspect units
with 168 single aspect units (64%) and 95 dual aspect units (36%). Of the
single aspect units, 60 units (23% of the development) are single aspect north
facing. The scheme has however been designed to maximise light and outlook
for all units by creating a stepped external wall to all dwellings. As well as
creating a dynamic external appearance, this arrangement creates the
perspective of dual aspect. For the north facing units, this creates windows to
both the north east and north west to maximise light and outlook. This is
therefore considered to be an appropriate solution for the scheme in light of
the current policy requirements.

Page 27

6.27 Light and outlook
A daylight/sunlight assessment following the British Research Establishment’s
(BRE) best practice guidance has been undertaken assessing the Vertical Sky
Component (VSC), Average Daylight Factor (ADF) and Annual Probable
Sunlight Hours (APSH) for the proposed new homes in the development.
6.28

The assessment finds that the majority of the relevant spaces in the proposed
development meet the recommended values of VSC. Where the target values
are not met, ADF calculations have been carried out. The results demonstrate
that the proposal will allow all new flats to receive an adequate level of
daylight.

6.29

Some flats on the bottom floors and north facing will receive less than the
recommended number of sunlight hours a year (APSH). It is however noted
that they would not be deficient in daylight as shown by the ADF calculations
and that occupiers would have access to sunlight within the communal
amenity area.

6.30 Amenity areas
The development includes private amenity areas in the form of gardens,
terraces or balconies for all dwellings. The position of the balconies within the
stepped external wall of each dwelling creates a highly usable and semi
integrated amenity space.
6.31 The communal amenity area also serves as the front approach to the
development and as such is proposed as publically accessible as well as
landscaped for the use of residents. This use of raised landscaping to Exchange
Road will create some defence from the busy road whilst the dwellings
provide good natural surveillance over the space and openings in the
landscaping to Exchange Road will encourage views into the area. This
therefore has the potential to create a useable space for residents and local
public whilst all residents also have their private amenity areas.
6.32 Air Quality
The development is located in close vicinity of an existing Air Quality
Management Area. An air quality assessment has been carried out and the
submitted air quality assessment report states that the pollutant levels at
sensitive locations across the site were below the relevant thresholds and no
mitigation measures were required for future residents.
6.33

(g) Impacts on surrounding properties

6.34

Marlborough Road

Page 28

Along the south boundary of the site is a public path to the south of which are
the Victorian terrace properties of Marlborough Road with Nos 36 to 60
(evens) backing on to the site. The development would be to the north of
these properties, avoiding any overshadowing, and the south wing of the
development at 5 storeys would be of a similar height to the building it is to
replace. As such, it is not considered that the development would result in
notable loss of light or outlook to the rears of the Marlborough Road
properties.
6.35

The Residential Design Guide seeks for developments to maintain a 27.5m
back to back distance with existing properties to maintain privacy between
new and existing properties. However, this is guidance and it is recognised
that this can be difficult to achieve in urban areas such as central Watford.
The existing dwellings at Marlborough Road include typical Victorian
outriggers with one upper floor window each in the outrigger and the
remaining first and second floor windows in the main elements of the
building. The proposed development would have a minimum distance from
the closest corner of its balconies of 23m to the rear outrigger windows of
Marlborough Road properties. This is below the 27.5m minimum guidance
however it is noted that this distance increases to a 31m minimum distance to
the remainder of the first floor windows and 32m to second floor dormer
windows. It is therefore considered that on balance, the impact to privacy of
the rear of the Marlborough Road properties is not adversely harmful to the
living environments of these properties.

6.36

Wilmington Close
To the north- east of the site and to the opposite side of Upton Road is a
recently built development of 9 storeys comprising Wilmington Court which
has commercial premises at ground floor and flats at upper floors. The front to
front relationship of these developments includes a minimum 20m distance
across Upton Road and this is an acceptable front to front relationship which
would not create adverse loss of privacy to Wilmington Close dwellings.

6.37

It is however noted that the Wilmington Close flats, particularly at upper
floors, currently enjoy a particularly open south facing aspect. The views from
some flats will be changed by the proposed development however due to the
relative distance and the oblique relationship, these flats would retain a good
level of outlook. To assess the impact of the development to the sunlight and
daylight of Wilmington Court, a daylight/sunlight assessment following the
British Research Establishment’s (BRE) best practice guidance has been
undertaken assessing the Vertical Sky Component (VSC), Average Daylight
Factor (ADF) and Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) to its existing
residential windows.

Page 29

6.38

The VSC measures the percentage of sky visible from the centre of the
window. The ADF is a measure of the distribution of daylight within a room,
and accounts for factors such as the size of a window in relation to the size of
the room and the number of windows. This assessment has found that the
majority of the VSC and ADF values of Wilmington Close windows would not
be reduced below 80% of their existing value. This means that any loss of light
is unlikely to be noticeable.

6.39

The only windows that will experience loss of daylight greater than 20% would
be the one bedroom window for each flat located in the recessed part of the
Wilmington Close building. As this affects the one bedroom to each flat only, it
is not considered that this would represent an overall adverse impact to the
living environments of these dwellings. It is also noted that some degree of
impact to existing recent developments is reasonably justified in an urban
town centre location to facilitate town regeneration and deliver new homes.

6.40

(h) Car parking, access and transportation
The site is in a sustainable town centre location, close to amenities and public
transport links. In accordance with Policy T26 of the Core Strategy, the site is
within an area that would be suitable for car-free residential development and
parking in surrounding roads can be prevented by the exemption of residents
from parking permit entitlements.

6.41

The development does however include 12 car parking spaces being 9 for
wheelchair/disabled users and 3 spaces for a car share scheme to be funded
for 3 years by the applicant. Electric vehicle charging is secured by condition.
The existing vehicle access to the site from Exchange Road will be removed
and the Upton Road access relocated to serve the parking and servicing area
at the rear of the building. The turning areas within the site allow for refuse
vehicles.

6.42

As set out in the submitted transport assessment, the development will see a
significant reduction of car traffic at the site due to the net loss of car parking
spaces. Following the provision of additional information in the Transport
Technical Note, the Highway Authority has no objection to the development.

6.43

The application is accompanied by a Travel Plan for the proposed
development detailing how the scheme will actively promote sustainable
modes of travel to the site for residents and visitors. Hertfordshire County
Council require additional details in the Travel Plan and a contribution of
£6,000 for the long term monitoring of the Travel Plan. This is detailed in the
S106 requirements.

Page 30

6.44

(i) Trees and landscaping
The site does not contain any trees preserved by TPO or conservation area
status and does not include any trees considered as significant for retention.
There are trees on adjacent land which will be required to have protection
during the construction.

6.45

The landscaping scheme is indicative and is to be secured by condition to
ensure that the area includes landscaping for amenity and ecology
enhancement of the site. It is noted that there will be some shadowing within
the space due to the orientation of the development however this is
reasonable and should be reflected in the landscaping scheme to ensure
shade tolerant planting in more shaded areas.

6.46

(j) Environmental impacts
The application is accompanied by reports detailing assessments in respect of
contamination, flood risk, surface water drainage, bat survey, ecology
assessment, wind assessment, overheating assessment, energy and
sustainability, air quality and noise impact. These technical matters have been
demonstrated to be acceptable to support the planning application and
relevant requirements are secured by condition.

6.47

(k) Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with effect
from 1 April 2015. The CIL charge covers a wide range of infrastructure as set
out in the Council’s Regulation 123 list, including highways and transport
improvements, education provision, youth facilities, childcare facilities,
children’s play space, adult care services, open space and sports facilities. CIL
is chargeable on the relevant net additional floorspace created by the
development. The charge is non-negotiable and is calculated at the time that
planning permission is granted. The CIL charge applicable to the proposed
development is £120 per m² (subject to indexation).

6.48

S.106 planning obligations can only be used to secure affordable housing
provision and other site specific requirements. The planning obligations for
this development are set out in Section 8 of this report.

7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

Statutory consultees and other organisations
Consultee
Comments
HCC Highway
Initial comments raised
Authority
objection to the scheme and

Page 31

Officer response
Noted

HCC Lead Local
Flood Authority
HCC Waste and
Minerals
HCC Growth and
Infrastructure
Historic England

Crime Prevention

Thames Water
Environment
Agency

Herts Ecology

7.2

Internal Consultees
Consultee
Contamination
officer

required further information.
This information was provided
by the applicant and has
addressed the concerns of the
Highway Authority. They have
confirmed they now remove
their objection subject to
conditions and s278 and s106
requirements.
Relevant and acceptable
details have been provided
and conditions provided.
General comments made.
Community Infrastructure
Levy applicable.
Objection due to the harm of
the building in the setting of
Listed Building Holy Rood
church. Increased height of
tower has worsened impact.
Officer has met with
architects and scheme will be
built within minimum
standards of Secured by
Design.
No objection.
The site is not within a high
risk area for ground water
contamination and no further
comments/conditions
necessary.

Noted

Noted
Noted
Discussed in report.

Noted

Noted
Noted

Bat emergence survey carried
out satisfactorily. Light
impacts require mitigation to
bats in area.

Noted

Comments
Air quality impacts are
demonstrated as negligible or
not significant. No objection

Officer response
Noted

Page 32

subject to recommended
conditions.
Head of Housing

The scheme of 263 units
should provide 92 affordable
units.
Viability outcome is noted and
provision offered for 48 units,
representing 20% of the
scheme by habitable rooms
and providing 29 social rent
and 19 shared ownership
units is supported.

Noted

Waste and
recycling officer

Bin requirements are:
34 x 1100l for refuse
34 x 1100l fir recycling and
34 x 140l for foodwaste
Garden waste optional and
chargeable.
Vehicle tracking in site needs
to be shown.
No comments received.

Noted. Vehicle tracking
for a refuse vehicle has
been shown in the
additional Transport
Technical Note and is
to the satisfaction of
the Highway Authority.

Environmental
Health

Arboricultural
officer

7.3

Some limited sunlight in
courtyard and no assessment
of private gardens or play
area. Detailed soft
landscaping plan will be
needed.

The submitted
technical assessments
are sufficient to
confirm appropriate
noise and air quality
impacts.
Noted

Interested parties
The application was advertised by letters to neighbours, site notices and paper
adverts which were made for the original application and for the revised
scheme submitted during the course of the application. The following is a
summary of the representations that have been received:

Page 33

Number of original consultations:
Number of revised consultations:
Number of objections:
Number in support:
Number of representations:
TOTAL REPRESENTATIONS:

415
415
8
0
1
9

Objection comment
The building is locally listed and
should be retained.

The existing building contributes to
the streetscene by way of its curvethe proposed development does not
improve this.

Height is too tall, overdevelopment
and not in keeping with the
surrounding area.

Loss of light, outlook and privacy to
Wilmington Close flats.

No affordable housing is offered.

Dwellings of 41m2 are too small.

Page 34

Officer comments
The value of the locally listed
building is noted however it is
considered that the development
offers a high quality design and
wider public benefits that on
balance serve to justify the loss of
the building.
The proposed development has
sought to reflect attributes of the
existing building in creating a similar
5 storey element to the south of the
site and in its bold architectural
design with grey materiality.
It is a tall building however this is
considered to be of good design and
appropriate for the prominent town
centre location. The development
height also ensures the scheme
makes effective use of the
brownfield site and delivers public
benefits including a significantly
improved public realm and on site
affordable housing.
Although some impact to the
Wilmington Close properties is
noted, it is not considered that this
would be to an adverse degree as
discussed in full in the report.
An affordable housing offer has
been made of 48 units representing
20% of the development based on
the habitable room provision.
The studio units meet the national
minimum space requirement of

Will increase on road parking issues.

Lack of parking will not meet needs
of future residents of the
development.

37sqm for 1 bed 1 person studios of
this nature.
The occupiers of the development
would not have entitlement to park
cars in the surrounding roads
subject to Controlled Parking
orders.
The low level of parking seeks to
minimize car use and traffic and
maximize the opportunities for non
car use. Residents would have
access to town centre amenities,
public transport, car club facilities
and cycle storage to support cycle
choices.

8.0

Recommendation

8.1

That, pursuant to a planning obligation under s.106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 having been completed to secure the following Heads of
Terms, planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:
Section 106 Heads of Terms
i)

To secure 48 units of the development to be Affordable Housing units
comprising:
29 no. social rented units of 3 no. 1B1P, 9 no. 1B2P, 4 no. 2B3P, 6 no.
2B4P and 7 no. 3B5P; and
19 intermediate ownership units of 4 no. 1B1P, 3 no. 1B2P, 2 no. 2B3P,
5 no. 2B4P and 5 no. 3B5P.

ii)

To secure a financial payment to the Council of £2,000 towards the
variation of the Borough of Watford (Watford Central Area and West
Watford Area) (Controlled Parking Zones) (Consolidation) Order 2010
to exclude the site from the controlled parking zone, thereby
preventing residents’ parking permits being issued to this site.

iii)

To secure an updated Travel Plan and financial payment to
Hertfordshire County Council of £6,000 for the long term monitoring of
the Travel Plan for the site.

Page 35

iv)

To maintain the 3 spaces identified on plan PL100 for car club space
parking, to facilitate the arrangement of an on site car club and to
provide funding for the membership of each dwelling for this car club
for 3 years membership from the date of first occupation. At the point
of occupation, should the car club be reasonably demonstrated as not
viable, a payment of the equivalent cost of the car club shall be made
to Watford Borough Council for contributions towards alternative
sustainable transport infrastructure.

v)

To secure financial contributions for the improvements to Bus Stops K
and L on Exchange Road, adjacent to the site’s frontage to include
Kassel kerbing and a display screen at each stop;

vi)

To secure the provision of fire hydrants to serve the site as required by
Hertfordshire County Council.

Conditions
1. Time Limit
The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within a
period of three years commencing on the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Approved Drawings and Documents
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved drawings and documents:
-

-

PL001, PL002, PL003, PL010, PL011, PL012, PL013, PL014, PL015,
PL020, PL021, PL022, PL023, PL099, PL100, PL101, PL102, PL103,
PL104, PL105, PL106, PL107, PL108, PL109, PL110, PL111, PL112,
PL113, PL114, PL115, PL116, PL117, PL118, PL119, PL120, PL121,
PL122, PL201, PL202, PL203, PL300, PL301, PL305, PL306, PL307,
PL308, PL400, PL401, PL402, PL403, PL404, PL406, PL500, PL501,
PL502, PL503, PL503A, PL504, PL505, PL506, PL508, PL509, PL510,
PL511, PL512, PL513, PL518, PL519, PL520, PL521, PL521A, PL522,
PL522A, PL523, PL525, PL525A, PL526, PL531, PL532, PL 533, PL534,
PL535, PL535 A, PL536, PL538, PL539, PL600, PL601
Design and Access Statement dated 7th October 2020
Landscaped Strategy dated 5th October 2020

Page 36

-

Energy and Sustainability Statement by Cudd Bentley Dated: 21st May
2020
Overheating Assessment by Cudd Bentley dated May 2020
Noise Impact Assessment by Create Consulting Engineers, Rev C dated
May 2020

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. Surface Water Strategy
The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
prepared by Create Consulting Engineers Ltd reference EW/CC/P19-1912/02
Rev B dated May 2020 and the following mitigation measures detailed within
the Flood Risk Assessment:
1. Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the critical storm events so
that it will not exceed the surface water run-off rate of 2 l/s during the 1 in
100 year event plus 40% of climate change event.
2. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes
for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change
event providing a minimum of 277 m3 (or such storage volume agreed with
the LLFA) of total storage volume in permeable paved area.
3. Discharge of surface water from the private drain into the Thames Water
sewer network.
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements
embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently
be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason:
To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and storage of
surface water from the site.
To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants.
4. Surface Water Drainage Scheme
No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage
scheme for the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable
drainage principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The drainage strategy should demonstrate the
surface water run-off generated up to and including 1 in 100 year + climate
change critical storm will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site
following the corresponding rainfall event. The scheme shall subsequently be

Page 37

implemented in accordance with the approved details before the
development is completed.
1. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including
cross section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet
features including any connecting pipe runs. Also to include corresponding
detailed post-development network calculations for all storm events up to and
including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event.
2. Evidence of consideration of the inclusion of blue roofs.
3. Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its
lifetime.
Reason:
To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site.
5. Construction Management Plan
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in
accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Management Plan shall
include details of:
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;
b. Access arrangements to the site;
c. Traffic management requirements
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car
parking, loading / unloading and turning areas);
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of
construction activities;
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and
temporary access to the public highway;
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of
hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle
movements.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and
22 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).

Page 38

6. Construction Traffic Management Plan and Access Route
No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management
Plan and Access Route, which shall incorporate adequate provision for
addressing any abnormal wear and tear to the highway, is submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority together with proposals to
control and manage construction traffic using the 'Construction Traffic Access
Route' and to ensure no other local roads are used by construction traffic.
Implementation of approved details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policy 12, 17 and 22
of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).
7. Car Parking Management Plan
Prior to the first occupation of each approved use within the development, a
Car Parking Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority and approved by it in writing. The plan should describe how parking
will be distributed and managed on the site and the location of electric vehicle
charging points. The plan should also include the commitment to ensure that
the accessible car parking space closest to the entry would be reserved for use
by any tenants requiring an accessible space who have a van.
Reason: To ensure safe and suitable planning and development of the site in
accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted
2018).
8. Existing Access Improvements
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the
vehicular access (indicated for improvement on drawing number 19047-MAXX-XX-DR-C-0009-P02 shall be upgraded to a minimum width of 5.67 metres
and provided with kerb radii of 2 metres in accordance with the Hertfordshire
County Council residential access construction specification for the first 15
metres as measured back from the near channel edge of the adjacent
carriageway. Prior to use arrangements shall be made for surface water
drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and in the interests of
highway safety, traffic movement and amenity in accordance with Policy 5 of
Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).
9. Existing Access Closure

Page 39

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted vehicular
and pedestrian (and cyclist) access to and egress from the adjoining highway
shall be limited to the access(es) shown on drawing number PL100 only. Any
other access(es) or egresses shall be permanently closed, and the footway /
highway verge shall be reinstated in accordance with a detailed scheme to be
agreed with the Local Planning Authority, concurrently with the bringing into
use of the new access.
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the
interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies 5 and 7 of
Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).
10. Scheme for Contamination Risk
Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall
each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning
authority:
i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
• all previous uses
• potential contaminants associated with those uses
• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
ii) A site investigation scheme, based on (i) to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including
those off site. This should include an assessment of the potential risks to:
human health, property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,
pests, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, ground waters
and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient
monuments.
iii) The site investigation results and the results of the detailed risk assessment
at (ii) above and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation
strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they
are to be undertaken.
iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in
order to demonstrate that the works set out in (iii) are complete and
identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these
components require the express consent of the local planning authority. The
scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Page 40

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers,
neighbours and other offsite receptors.

11. Verification Report
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation
scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation
carried out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and
maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to
exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance
programme shall be implemented.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers,
neighbours and other offsite receptors.
12. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and
risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of
the Scheme for Contamination Risk approved under condition 10, and where
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in
accordance with the requirements of condition 10, which is subject to the
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority in accordance with condition 11.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers,
neighbours and other offsite receptors.
13. Materials

Page 41

No external facing materials shall be installed on the building until full details
of the materials to be used for all the external surfaces, including for
balcony/terrace enclosures and plant enclosures at roof level, have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and the
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

14. Detailed Drawings
No external facing materials shall be installed on the building until detailed
design drawings of all external surfaces including brick detailing, window
reveals, rainwater collection and enclosures at roof level have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and the
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.
15. Hard landscaping
No part of the development shall be occupied until full details of a hard
landscaping scheme, including details of the materials and drainage of all
hardstanding, children’s play area and the site boundary treatments have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
and the works have been carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Detailed scheme shall be based upon the Landscaped Strategy dated 5th
October 2020 and approved drawing number: PL100-200928.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the local area
pursuant to Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.
16. Soft Landscaping
No part of the development shall be occupied until a detailed soft landscaping
scheme for the site and a landscape management and maintenance plan, has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The detailed scheme shall be based upon the Landscaped Strategy dated 5 th
October 2020 and approved drawing number: PL100-200928 and shall include
details of the green roofs and details of planting appropriate for the sunlight
conditions for the relevant areas. The approved soft landscaping scheme shall
be carried out not later than the first available planting and seeding season
after completion of development. Any trees or plants whether new or existing
which within a period of five years die, are removed or become seriously

Page 42

damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others
of similar size and species, or in accordance with details approved by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the wider
area andto ensure amenity and ecology enhancements, in accordance with
Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.
17. Tree Protection
No development on site shall commence until details and a method statement
in respect of tree protection measures (including ground protection) relating
to trees located within and adjacent to the site have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The tree protection
measures approved under this condition shall be implemented prior to the
commencement of any works and shall be maintained as such at all times
whilst the construction works take place.
Reason: To ensure the existing trees which make a positive contribution to
the visual amenity of the area are retained and not harmed by the
development in accordance with saved Policy SE37 of the Watford District
Plan 2000.
18. Refuse and recycling
No part of the building shall be occupied until the refuse and recycling
facilities shown in the Design and Access Statement and in drawing numbers
PL100 and PL099, have been constructed and made available for use. These
facilities shall be retained as approved at all times.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and to ensure that
adequate facilities exist for residents of the proposed development, in
accordance with Policy SE7 of the Watford District Plan 2000.
19. Cycle and large item storage
No part of the development shall be occupied until the cycle parking facilities
and large item storage facilities shown in the Design and Access statement
and in drawing numbers: PL100 and PL099, have been constructed and made
available for use. These facilities shall be retained as approved at all times.
Reason: To encourage travel by cycle and to provide sustainable travel
alternatives, in accordance with saved Policy T10 of the Watford District Plan
2000 and Policy T3 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006- 31.
20. Communal Satellites/aerials

Page 43

No dwelling shall be occupied until details of a communal terrestrial television
aerial(s) and satellite dish(es) have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the building, in
accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.
21. Community use
The ground floor premises identified as for community/leisure use shall be
used only for community and leisure facilities within subparagraphs E(d), E(e)
and E(f) of Use Class E of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020. Or in any provision
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting
that Order, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of resdients n accordance with Policy
UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31 and to secure the
scheme benefits as included in the development.
22. Front amenity area access
No boundary treatment, other than that approved in the landscaping plan,
shall be installed along the east boundary to Exchange Road unless otherwise
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The amenity area shall
remain accessible as shown in drawing PL100, the Landscaping Strategy and
Design and Access Statement.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the local area
pursuant to Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

1. IN907 – Positive and proactive statement
2. IN909 – Street naming and numbering
3. IN910 – Building Regulations
4. IN911 – Party Wall Act
5. IN912 – Hours of Construction
6. IN913 – Community Infrastructure Levy Liability
7. IN915 – Highway Works – HCC agreement required

Page 44

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
3 March 2021
UPDATE SHEET

Item 5 - 20/00671/FULM – Exchange House, 60 Exchange Road

WITHDRAWAL FROM AGENDA
The applicant has requested that the planning application be withdrawn from the
agenda to allow time to explore whether some of the issues raised in the committee
report can be more suitably addressed. Officers have accepted this request and the
application is withdrawn from consideration at this meeting.

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Page 51

Page 52

Page 53

Page 54

Page 55

Page 56

Page 57

Watford Place Shaping Panel
Report of Formal Review Meeting: Exchange House
Tuesday 21 July 2020
via video conference
Panel
Peter Bishop (chair)
Laurie Handcock
Bevan Jones
Nicola Rutt
Andrew Thornhill
Attendees
Paul Baxter
Sian Finney-MacDonald
Ben Martin
Alice Reade
Tom Bolton
Deborah Denner
Penny Nakan
Adela Paparisto

Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Frame Projects
Frame Projects
Frame Projects
Frame Projects

Observer
Cllr Peter Jeffree
Linda Bishop
Andrew Clarke

Chair, Development Management Committee,
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council

Apologies / report copied to
Louise Holman

Watford Borough Council

Report of Formal Review Meeting
21 July 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 58

1.

Project name and site address

Address:
Planning application ref:
2.

60 Exchange Road, Watford, WD18 0JJ
20/00671/FULM

Presenting team

Avishay Manoach
Labeed Haque
Viktor Rohacs
Peter Jeffery
Jon Turner
Ilianna Filianna
3.

60 Exchange Road Ltd
60 Exchange Road Ltd
Bogle Architects
Sphere25
Sphere25
Cudd Bentley Consulting

Planning authority’s views

This proposal involves the demolition of a locally listed five-storey office building on
the corner of Exchange Road and Upton Road, and redevelopment of the site with a
five to 18-storey residential building. The existing building was granted prior approval
for conversion into 126 dwellings in February 2017, but this has not been
implemented.
The proposed new building consists of a single ‘U’-shaped block with stepped height.
The southeast corner along Exchange Road is eight storeys, stepping down to five
towards the rear southwest corner of the site. Along the western boundary the height
gradually steps up to ten storeys as the block reaches Upton Road, then steps further
up to its maximum height of 18 storeys on the corner of Upton and Exchange Road.
The opening of the ‘U’ shape facing Exchange Road encloses publicly accessible
green space.
The site is not within a conservation area but is close to the Civic Core Conservation
Area along the High Street to the north, and St Mary’s Conservation Area to the south
east. The wider context also includes listed buildings: 14-16 The Parade to the east
(Grade II-listed), Grade I-listed Holy Rood RC church to the south and the Grade Ilisted St Mary’s Parish Church.
A planning application was submitted in July 2020, and officers sought the panel’s
advice, in particular, on a number of key points:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

loss of the locally listed building;
the building’s density, height and design in relation to the site;
quality of the living environment, including flat layouts and single aspect units;
quality and usability of the landscaped area at the front of the building in
relation to amenity and passive surveillance from the street and dwellings;
impact in settings and views of heritage assets;
relationship to lower height residential properties;
options to deliver a sustainable development.

Report of Formal Review Meeting
21 July 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 59

4.

Place Review Group’s views

Summary
While considerable work has been undertaken to develop architectural language and
massing options, the panel does not think the proposed designs are appropriate for
the site. The panel considers the building will have a detrimental impact on the setting
of listed buildings, particularly the view of Holy Rood Church along Exchange Road,
from the north-west. As the existing office building is locally listed, its demolition can
only be justified if its replacement provides a significant architectural improvement,
which the panel does not believe to be the case. The architectural language is overly
complex, and the combination of colour contrast between balconies and façade,
faceted façade elements and stepped massing result in a design that is
unsympathetic to its surroundings. The panel asks that strategies are employed to
reduce overall impact, including simplifying façade treatment and appearance, and
potentially reducing the height of the eight-storey south-east corner. The panel also
thinks that the chosen architectural form will compromise the quality of residential
accommodation. Despite the use of faceted windows, a high proportion of units will
have not cross-ventilation and will therefore not be truly dual aspect, while a
significant number are also north-facing. The lack of cross-ventilation also means that
a more robust energy and ventilation strategy would be required to ensure
comfortable conditions, as weather becomes hotter. Further work is also needed to
improve the scheme’s landscape design. In particular, the scheme should contribute
to making Exchange Road feel more accessible and welcoming to the public, and to
improving the public realm quality of the ring road. The panel suggests the council
should consider imposing conditions to ensure public access to the landscaped
space. The proposed water feature should form part of a sustainable drainage
system, along with the roofs. Roof space should also include accessible terraces
space, and green roofs should be more biodiverse. These comments are expanded
below.
Heritage and townscape impact
•

The panel believes demolition of the existing Richard Seifert building can be
justified, but only if its replacement is of a higher quality. The most positive
aspect of the current building is that it creates a landmark without the use of
height or overly bulky massing.

•

The site’s ring road location does not, in itself, justify the construction of a tall
building. While taller buildings are being introduced to the west, the site is
separated from these and is adjacent to much lower buildings. The drop in
gradient to the south and west also increases the impact of a tall building here,
and risks an uncomfortable relationship with neighbouring buildings.

•

The panel thinks that the complexity of the form and façade design results in a
building that is too prominent for the site, and will dominate views. In the
panel’s view, this will have a negative impact on the setting of nearby historic
buildings, including the Grade 1 listed Holy Rood Church.

Report of Formal Review Meeting
21 July 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 60

•

The panel also recommends that, if the Richard Seifert building is demolished,
building recording is required as condition of planning permission.

Architectural approach
•

The panel considers that the combination of a faceted façade and white
balconies on dark brick, while architecturally interesting, is overly complex for
the location, leading to a design that dominates its setting.

•

It asks the design team to investigate options to simplify its appearance and
create a calmer façade. The aim should be to provide a calmer backdrop to
listed buildings, and reflect more of the qualities of the existing building.

Massing
•

The panel understands the reasons for stepping the massing of the
development, in a transitional location between higher and lower buildings.
However, as mentioned above it feels this creates a form that is too prominent
for the site, and will dominate views.

•

It recommends simpler building massing, for example the height of the eightstorey south-eastern element could be lowered and treated as a more
independent element. The height could increase towards the north of the site,
in a calmer way, without the highly complex stepped massing currently
proposed.

Internal layout
•

The panel has concerns about the quality of the accommodation that would be
created by the proposed layout. While it is good that all units have at least one
balcony, the faceted windows will not provide the cross-ventilation required for
flats to be truly dual aspect. Some units are also north-facing, and the panel
suggests that not all the accommodation will be of the high standard expected.

•

The panel also notes that the floor layouts appear to locate some kitchens on
the means of escape route. It asks that compliance with Building Regulations
Part B: Fire Safety is confirmed.

Energy and ventilation
•

The development has a large amount of glazing, and the mitigation proposed
to address solar gain on southern-facing façades may not be sufficient to
avoid overheating.

•

With hotter summers becoming the norm in only a few years’ time, there is a
risk that residents will introduce their own cooling units and undermine the
building’s low carbon objectives.

Report of Formal Review Meeting
21 July 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 61

•

The panel suggests the energy and ventilation strategy is revisited, including
the potential for air source heat pumps to provide cooling in summer, as well
as heating in winter.

Use of roofs
•

The panel asks that thought is given to making some roof space accessible for
residents as terraces, which would provide a valuable amenity.

•

It also suggests that a whole-site sustainable drainage approach should be
established, using the roofs and the garden water feature as active
components for managing water on the site. The pond could provide storm
water attenuation capacity for the roofs.

•

Greater biodiversity benefits could be achieved by planting a wider range of
species on the green roofs rather than relying on sedum. The panel suggests
that more options are investigated.

Public space
•

The panel suggests the large trees proposed for the southern boundary of the
site may be problematic. There is a risk these may have to be removed when
they become large enough to obstruct the sunlight of ground floor units.

•

The panel enjoys the undulating, graphic approach to the topography of the
landscaped area facing on to Exchange Road. However, care should be taken
to avoid creating a barrier to the pedestrian area beyond that discourages
people from using the public space.

•

Public access is an important aspect of the development, and the landscaping
should include enough openings to ensure members of the public feel
welcomed into the space.

•

A connection between the development and Exchange Road is also important
because, over time, the ring road is likely to become a less traffic-dominated
street.

•

The development should make positive moves to enable future improvement
to the pedestrian realm, making it a more pleasant place for walking and
cycling.

•

Watford Borough Council could consider imposing conditions on any planning
permission to ensure public access to the landscaped area is guaranteed.

•

The panel also encourages investigation of ground conditions to ensure root
zones are sufficient for the trees proposed for the Exchange Road frontage.

•

A wind strategy should be provided to ensure the public space is comfortable
to use, and not affected by down draughts.

Report of Formal Review Meeting
21 July 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 62

•

The panel asks the design team to ensure the play area has sufficient
protection from traffic and pollution to make it attractive for children.

Next Steps
The panel is available to comment further on the proposals at the next stage of
design development, if required.

Report of Formal Review Meeting
21 July 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 63

Watford Place Shaping Panel
Report of Chair’s Review Meeting: Exchange House
Monday 14 September 2020
via video conference
Panel
Peter Bishop (chair)
Laurie Handcock
Attendees
Paul Baxter
Ben Martin
Alice Reade
Sian Finney-MacDonald
Helen Harris
Amy Wolanski
Simon Mabey
Tom Bolton
Penny Nakan

Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Watford Borough Council
Digital Urban
Frame Projects
Frame Projects

Apologies / report copied to
Louise Holman

Watford Borough Council

Report of Chair’s Review Meeting
14 September 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 64

1.

Project name and site address

Address:
Planning application ref:
2.

Presenting team

Avishay Manoach
Labeed Haque
Ian Bogle
Viktor Rohacs
Peter Jeffery
Jon Turner
Ilianna Filianna
3.

60 Exchange Road, Watford, WD18 0JJ
20/00671/FULM

60 Exchange Road Ltd
60 Exchange Road Ltd
Bogle Architects
Bogle Architects
Sphere25
Sphere25
Cudd Bentley Consulting

Planning authority’s views

This proposal involves the demolition of a locally listed five-storey office building on
the corner of Exchange Road and Upton Road, and redevelopment of the site with a
five to 18-storey residential building. The existing building was granted prior approval
for conversion into 126 dwellings in February 2017, but this has not been
implemented.
The site is not within a conservation area but is close to the Civic Core Conservation
Area along the High Street to the north, and St Mary’s Conservation Area to the south
east. The wider context also includes listed buildings: 14-16 The Parade to the east
(Grade II-listed), Grade I-listed Holy Rood RC Church to the south and the Grade Ilisted St Mary’s Parish Church.
The application was reviewed by the Watford Place Shaping Panel on 21 July 2020.
The architects revised the scheme in response with the following key amendments:
• Massing:
- Reduction to the south wing height down from seven to five storeys.
- Reduction of shoulder to west of the tower.
- Addition to the tower height from 18 to 21 storeys.
- Some ‘steps’ in the middle section removed to reduce complexity.
• Architectural approach / façade:
- Mix of brick and white concrete balconies has been replaced with a
simpler palate of grey brick and metal balcony railings.
Additional details were also provided on amendments to massing and façade, public
realm and energy and ventilation.
Officers asked for the panel’s comments on the suitability of these amendments in
responding to their previous concerns, and on issues including the loss of locally
listed building and its justification through design quality; the effect of stepped height
on massing; the lack of true dual aspect flats; energy and overheating issues, and
provision of public realm.

Report of Chair’s Review Meeting
14 September 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 65

Place Review Group’s views

4.

Summary
The panel is pleased to see that a significant amount of work has been done since
the previous review meeting to respond to its comments, resulting in positive changes
to the scheme, but asks that materials and detailing are conditioned if possible.
Without renders showing the materials to be used, it is not possible for the panel to
judge whether the impact of the development in key views of the Holy Rood Church
Mass is reduced, a judgement that must be made by Watford officers. However, it
feels that a simplified façade design and material changes have resulted in a more
appropriate, higher quality building that can justify the demolition of the existing,
locally listed building. It suggests minor material amendments to help avoid the
building appearing dominant. Materials and detailing should be conditioned to ensure
the building is delivered as designed. It considers that the taller tower has resulted in
a more elegant design, but Watford officers should be satisfied that this location is
appropriate for a tall building within the wider development context. Landscape
designs require further development and detailing. The main public space must be
welcoming, to draw people in, and more ground floor commercial uses should be
considered to create a truly public space. Landscaped space at the south-west corner
should be given an active role. The internal layout of flats should be assessed by the
council to ensure it provides a living space of sufficient quality. These comments are
expanded below.
Height and massing
•

The panel considers that the addition of three storeys to the tower has created
a design of greater elegance. However, Watford officers will need to make a
judgement on whether the proposed height is appropriate within the wider
townscape, and whether this location is right for a tall building within an
emerging context of height in the town centre.

•

Changes since the last review have also improved the scheme in terms of
massing and form, helping it to respond better to the domestic scale of the
urban fabric to the south and the west of the site.

Architectural approach
•

The panel considers that changes to façade designs have succeeded in
creating a calmer and more elegant building. While the alterations are a clear
step in right direction, the panel has not seen the proposed materials and
cannot therefore provided a view on whether the harm caused in views of the
Grade I-listed Holy Rood RC Church. This question is therefore for Watford
officers to answer when materials are confirmed.

•

Nevertheless, the panel suggests that the colour of brick could be lightened a
little to provide a greyer, less dominant presence in views past Holy Rood
Church, from the south.

Report of Chair’s Review Meeting
14 September 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 66

•

A comparative exercise could be carried out to assess the impact of different
materials in this important view. Watford Borough Council should request
before and after images to allow it to compare and contrast different material
options in this view.

•

It is essential that the building, when constructed, is delivered as designed to
avoid damaging impact in views. Materials and detailing should therefore be
conditioned to ensure they are delivered.

Internal layout
•

The design of units as single aspect with faceted windows creates
architectural complexity, but the panel considers that it results in better quality
residential accommodation than would be the case with truly single aspect
units. However, it encourages Watford officers to assess whether the quality of
living space provided by each unit is sufficient. If there are doubts, the option
of increasing floor-to-ceiling heights could be considered.

Commercial uses
•

The panel suggests that more commercial uses at ground floor level would
provide greater public benefit. For example, uses such as a café and a local
shop would encourage people into the scheme, and establish its function as a
public and accessible place. Options for introducing more uses such as these
should be discussed with Watford officers. Reducing the amount of residential
accommodation to include more ground floor commercial space would benefit
the development overall.

Landscape and amenity space
•

Landscape designs for the scheme are at an early stage, and should be
developed further to reach the level of detail required for a final design.

•

The panel supports the designation of the courtyard opening onto Exchange
Road as public space, but emphasises the need to ensure it feels public and
welcoming to passers-by. Care should be taken to avoid creating any
apparent barriers on Exchange Road, or the appearance that gardens may be
private. Secure lines should be drawn as close to building as is reasonable,
allowing the landscape to invite people in.

•

The panel is concerned the triangular open space at the south-west corner of
the site does not have function, and will not provide any wider benefit. It
suggests the building is extended into this space to open it up, and that it is
designed for active use.

•

It is important that the development’s frontage on Upton Road balances the
need for privacy for ground floor units with passive surveillance. Residential
units should not be over-screened and should retain a relationship with the
street outside.

Report of Chair’s Review Meeting
14 September 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 67

•

While the development should provide a high level of environmental
performance, the panel suggests that some of the proposed photo-voltaic cells
could be removed from the roof, to provide communal roof space which would
have significant value as amenity for residents.

Next Steps
The panel is available to comment further on the proposals at the next stage of
design development, if required.

Report of Chair’s Review Meeting
14 September 2020
WPSP02_Exchange House

Page 68

Agenda Item 6

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal
Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward

3 March 2021
19/00778/FULM - Land To The North Of Thomas Sawyer
Way
Amendment to the affordable housing mix of the
committee resolution for approval dated 1 April 2020
Watford Health Campus Partnership
Mr Nick Green, Savills
Variation to s106 heads of terms
Variation to previous committee resolution for approval
dated 1 April 2020
4 March 2021
None Required
Andrew Clarke, andrew.clarke@watford.gov.uk
Vicarage

1.

Recommendation

1.1

That the terms of the s106 Agreement previously agreed by the committee on
1 April 2020 be amended to change the affordable housing provision from 67
units to secure a minimum of 62 units comprising a minimum of:






12 x 3 bed 5 person social rented maisonettes
8 x 3 bed 5 person social rented houses
32 x 3 bed 5 person affordable rented houses
5 x 2 bed 4 person shared ownership flats
5 x 2 bed 3 person shared ownership flats

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The application site, of 2.15 hectares, is located to the north of Thomas
Sawyer Way and to the south of the Vicarage Road Football Stadium. To the
east of the site is Occupation Road and to the west is the site of the approved
Multi Storey Car Park. The site is to be accessed by a new road from the
roundabout on Thomas Sawyer Way.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal
The Committee on 1 April 2020 resolved to grant planning permission for the
redevelopment of the site to provide 192 dwellings and a community centre,
with associated landscaping, amenity space and access, subject to the
entering into of a s106 agreement to, amongst other things, make provision

Page 69

for 67 affordable housing units and also subject to a number of conditions.
The report to Committee on 1 April 2000 is attached as Appendix 1.
3.2

The applicant has requested that the affordable housing provision to be
secured as part of the s106 agreement be varied from that approved by the
committee. As the s106 agreement has yet to be finalised and planning
permission formally issued, this report seeks approval for the original
resolution to be amended to take into account the requested variation.

4.

Main considerations

6.1

Affordable housing provision

6.2

The affordable housing and overall tenure previously approved was:
Units
Market
Affordable Rent
Social Rent
SO
Total

6.3

1 Bed

2 Bed
39
0
0
0
39

3 Bed
25
0
0
10
35

61
44
13
0
118

% of
% of
Total
scheme affordable
125
65 n/a
44
23
66
13
7
19
10
5
15
192
100
100

The amended affordable housing and overall tenure is:
Units
Market
Affordable Rent
Social Rent
SO
Total

1 Bed

2 Bed
39
0
0
0
39

3 Bed
25
0
0
10
35

66
32
20
0
118

Total
130
32
20
10
192

% of
% of
scheme affordable
68 n/a
17
52
10
32
5
16
100
100

6.4

These amendments would secure seven additional 3 bedroom, 5 person Social
Rented units, the type of unit considered highest priority by Watford Borough
Council’s housing service. The numbers of Affordable Rented would be
reduced by twelve, resulting in five fewer affordable housing units overall. The
number of Shared Ownership units remains unchanged. Watford Borough
Council’s housing service support this amendment. This mix is broadly in line
with policy HS3 of Watford’s Core Strategy, though is more in line with
emerging draft local plan policy HO3.3 which reflects current housing needs. A
plan showing the amended housing tenure mix is at Appendix 2.

6.5

The amended mix would deliver 35% affordable housing by habitable room,
which is 32% by unit. This percentage difference is due to the larger units

Page 70

being affordable. This compares to 38% by habitable room and 35% by unit
previously. The affordable housing provision with 35% by habitable room is
complaint with Policy HS3 of the Core Strategy and is therefore considered
acceptable.
7.

Additional consultation responses received

7.1

Internal Consultees
Name of Internal Consultee
Housing

8.

Comment
The housing service supports the
provision of additional social rented
units.

Recommendation
That the terms of the s106 be amended as follows:
i)

To secure a minimum of 62 units of the development to be Affordable
Housing units comprising a minimum of:






12 x 3 bed 5 person social rented maisonettes
8 x 3 bed 5 person social rented houses
32 x 3 bed 5 person affordable rented houses
5 x 2 bed 4 person shared ownership flats
5 x 2 bed 3 person shared ownership flats

And that all other heads of terms of the s106 agreement and conditions as set
out in the previous resolution dated 1 April 2020 remain as originally
approved.

Page 71

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
VIRTUAL DISCUSSION MEETING
(DELEGATED OFFICER DECISION)

1 April 2020
7.00 pm
Town Hall

Contact
Ian Smith
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk
01923 278323
website.
Publication date: 24 March 2020

Page 72

Committee Membership
Councillor P Jeffree (Chair)
Councillor S Johnson (Vice-Chair)
Councillors N Bell, K Collett, F Ezeifedi, M Mills, J Pattinson, I Sharpe and M Watkin

Agenda
Part A Open to the Public
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Disclosure of interests

3.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 March 2020 to be submitted and signed.

CONDUCT OF THE MEETING
The attached document sets out the procedure for this virtual discussion meeting and
delegated decision.
4.

19/00778/FULM - Land To The North Of Thomas Sawyer Way (Pages 7 - 52)

5.

19/01432/VAR - Land at 136, Langley Road (Pages 53 - 65)

6.

19/01411/VAR - 8 Oxhey Road (Pages 66 - 76)

Page 73

Introduction
Please note that the officer report is a summary of the issues including representations
made and consultation responses. Full details of the applications, plans submitted,
supporting information and documents, representations made, consultation responses
Public Access system using
the application reference or address.
Specific policy considerations for each application are detailed within the individual
reports. The background papers and policy framework listed below have been relied upon
in the preparation of the reports in this agenda.
Background papers
The current planning applications under consideration and correspondence related
to that application.
All relevant third party representations and consultation replies received.
Policy Framework
The Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with relevant
Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance listed
below:
Local Planning Documents
Local Development Documents provide the framework for making planning decisions.
website and include:
the existing Local Plan which consists of the Core Strategy, saved policies in the
Watford District Plan 2000 and Proposals Map); and
Supplementary Planning Documents.
County Planning Documents
The Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan and Minerals Local Plan prepared by Hertfordshire
County Council are material considerations alongside the Watford Local Plan. These
website.
National Planning Documents
Key legislation can be found using this weblink, including:
Growth and Infrastructure Act (2013)
Housing and Planning Act (2016)

Page 74

Localism Act (2011) and subsequent amendments
Planning Act (2008) and subsequent amendments
Planning and Compulsory Planning Act (2004) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning Act (1990) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and
subsequent amendments.
National guidance can be found on the government service and information website,
including:
National Planning Policy Framework (revised February 2019) and supporting
Technical Guidance
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (web based)
Planning policy for traveller sites
Relevant government circulars
Relevant Ministerial Statements (which will be referred to in the individual reports
as necessary)
Section 106 Planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with effect from 1 April
2015. The CIL charge covers a
Regulation 123 list, including highways and transport improvements, education provision,
and sports facilities. CIL is chargeable on the relevant net additional floorspace created by
the development. The charge is non-negotiable and is calculated at the time that planning
permission is granted where relevant. Section 106 planning obligations can only be used
to secure affordable housing provision and other site specific requirements, such as the
removal of entitlement to parking permits in Controlled Parking Zones and the provision of
fire hydrants.
Human Rights implications
The Local Planning Authority
order to alleviate any adverse effect on adjoining properties and their occupiers and on
general public amenity. With regard to any infringement of third party human rights,
these are not considered to be of such a nature and degree as to override the human
rights of the applicant and therefore warrant refusal of planning permission.

Page 75

Virtual Development Management Control information

Conduct of the Meeting
1. This discussion is virtual in that it is being conducted at no specific location and all
participants are at various locations, communicating via audio and online.
2. Due to the current legislation, committee meetings cannot be held in a virtual
format. Accordingly, any decisions taken here, will be those of certain specially
delegated officers, but in consultation with the elected committee members and
having had regard to their views. Those delegated officers are: the Interim Group
Head of Place Shaping, the Head of Development Management and the
Development Management Team Leader. Only one of those officers will make a
decision; we have included the ability for more officers to take the decisions for
resilience purposes.
3. The meeting will comprise the usual members of the Development Management
Committee or their notified substitutes. The discussion will be chaired by the usual
chair of Development Management Committee or the vice chair.
4. Members of the public will be entitled to register under the usual procedure for
speaking at Development Management Committee and will be given a link to the
meeting. Other members of the public who wish to hear the discussion but do not
wish to speak must notify Democratic Services by email to
mailto:democraticservices@watford.gov.uk no later than 4:00 p.m. on 1 April 2020
and they will be provided with a link to listen in.
5. The Chair will open the discussion by confirming who is present: The members of
the committee, or their substitute will then introduce themselves, then the council
officers present, then members of the public or ward councillors who have
registered to speak at this meeting. Members of the public who have registered to
speak will be called on by the Chair to address the meeting when the item they have
registered to speak is being discussed. They will have the usual time of up to 5
minutes. They will not be entitled to take part in the discussion. Any other persons
who are listening in are welcome to listen but they are not entitled to take any active
part in the meeting. The chair has the discretion to remove any member of the
public from the discussion if they interrupt, try to engage in the discussion, or are
abusive having been warned about their behaviour.
6. Before addressing the meeting, each person will be asked to state their name.
Please also show respect to each other and do not talk over someone who is already
speaking. Please put on the mute button if you are not speaking as otherwise it can
get difficult to hear what is being said.
7. The meeting will proceed in the following order:
i) All items where people wish to speak and have registered with Democratic
Services.
ii) Any remaining items.

Page 76

8.

9.

The Chair will state the item to be discussed and ask the planning case officer to give
a brief description of the item and advise of any updated information not available in
the agenda report. If a member of the public has requested to speak the chair will
then ask them to speak. If any ward councillor has requested to speak the chair will
then call on them to speak.
The chair will then ask if any members of the committee wish to speak.
Members should give their name if they wish to speak and the chair will then call on
each member as indicated.
At the end of the discussion the chair will sum up the views of the members.
The officer will then make the decision having
comments. The officer will also give reasons for their decision. If having heard the
views of the committee they are of view they are unable to make a decision they can
defer it.

10.

Page 77

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 1 April 2020
19/00778/FULM - Land To The North Of Thomas Sawyer
Way
Redevelopment of the site to provide 192 no. residential
dwellings (Class C3), comprising of 62 no. flats and 130 no.
houses, and a community centre (Class D1) alongside
associated landscaping, amenity space, access and
parking. (Amended description and amended plans
received 16th March 2020)
Watford Health Campus Partnership
Mr Nick Green, Savills
Major Full Planning Permission
Major Application
29th May 2020 (To allow for S106 legal agreement)
Notification to Secretary of State, Site Notice and local
paper publications, to include Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) notifications
Paul Baxter, paul.baxter@watford.gov.uk
Vicarage

Recommendation
Approve subject to conditions and S106 Heads of Terms as set out in section 8
of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The application site, of 2.15 hectares, is located to the north of Thomas
Sawyer Way and to the south of the Vicarage Road Football Stadium. To the
east of the site is Occupation Road and to the west is the site of the approved
Multi Storey Car Park (MSCP) (Ref 18/01383/FULM). The site is to be accessed
by a new road (permission Ref 18/01349/FUL) from the roundabout with
Thomas Sawyer Way.

2.2

The application site consists of land forming part of the former allotments and
land currently used as surface car parking for Watford General Hospital and
Watford Football Club staff. The site and context include significant ground
level changes with ground levels reducing from north to south making the site
lower relative to the stadium and elevated relative to Thomas Sawyer Way
and the south of the Riverwell zone.

Page 78

2.3

The site is not within a conservation area and does not encompass any listed
buildings. The site is within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) however is in ground water
source protection zone 1 which is high risk.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal

3.2

The application was originally included on the Development Management
Committee agenda for the meeting held on 5 February 2020. The application
was withdrawn from the agenda at the request of the applicant in order to
allow more time to make further amendments to the design of the proposal
and finalise the provision of affordable housing. In summary, the following
changes have been made to the proposals since February.
The terrace along the northern edge of the site has been reconfigured to
address issues with natural light and outlook.
The terrace along the northern edge has been extended toward the north
east to improve natural surveillance of the car-parking areas.
The 4-bedroom houses adjacent to the multi-storey car-park have been
replaced with stacked 3-bedroom maisonettes.
Units reconfigured to improve overlooking of the area in the northwestern corner of the site.
-toFurther work has been undertaken on the gable ends across the scheme
to improve the architecture, natural light and surveillance.
Affordable housing is now confirmed as 35% by unit.
-toReduction in car-parking spaces from 169 to 167 spaces.

3.3

Notwithstanding the above amendments, the application continues to seek
planning permission for the redevelopment of the site to provide 192
dwellings and a community centre, with associated landscaping, amenity
space and access. The development is to follow ground works to reduce the
gradient of the site slopes and to erect a 6m high retaining wall at the north
end of the site to the stadium (pending application 19/00779/FULM). An 8
storey building to wrap south and east sides of the car park to contain a
community centre of 397sqm at ground floor and 50 flats (39 x 1bed and 11 x
2bed).

3.4

The proposals include 130 terrace houses as follows:
Size

Number

Page 79

2 Bed 4 Person
3 Bed 5 Person

24
106
Total 130
Figure 1: Accommodation schedule for houses
3.5

Total residential provisions:
Beds
1 Bed
2 Bed

3 Bed

Size/type
1 Bed 2 Person Flat
2 Bed 3 Person Flat
2 Bed 4 Person Flat
2 Bed 4 Person House
3 Bed 5 Person Maisonette
3 Bed 5 Person House

Number
39
6
5
24
12
106

Total
39
35

118
192

Figure 2: Total Accommodation Schedule
3.6

The development proposes affordable housing provision of a minimum of 67
units (35% by unit) comprising:
12No. x 3 bed 5 person social rented maisonettes
1 No. x 3 bed 5 person social rented house units
44No. x 3 bed 5 person affordable rented houses
5No. x 2 bed 4 person shared ownership flats
5No. x 2 bed 3 person shared ownership flats

3.7

Conclusion
The development for housing and a community centre is fully in accordance
with the Special Policy Area (SPA3) aspirations for the site and the Riverwell
project. The development offers an innovative approach to create family
housing at a high density and offers a policy compliant level of affordable
housing. The development proposes a high quality design approach that
responds positively to the site constraints, addresses and screens the
approved multi storey car park and would create a new residential family
quarter for the town.

4.

Relevant policies
Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.

Page 80

5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1

Riverwell Masterplan
The parcel of land to which this application relates forms part of the wider
Watford Riverwell site (formally known as Watford Heath Campus). This
project within a Special Policy Area (SPA3) has been progressing for a number
of years and has an extensive planning history. The most relevant aspects of
this are set out below.

5.2

On 6th January 2015, an application for the new Health Campus masterplan
(excluding former allotment site) was approved:
Ref. 14/00511/OUTM Hybrid planning application for the development of a
mixed-use health campus accessed from the approved access road
comprising:
1. Outline element for the construction of new hospital/healthcare
accommodation, together with business, retail, office, food and drink,
hotel, and leisure uses, and up to 681 new dwellings, safeguarding of
land for the expansion of Laurance Haines primary school, new public
spaces, play space and landscaping, associated car parking, access
roads, footways and cycleways.
2. Detailed element (business area south) for the construction of three
industrial business units together associated vehicle and cycle parking,
site landscaping and the creation of a new wildlife area.

5.3

A separate outline planning application (14/00512/OUTM) was also submitted
in April 2014 for the Farm Terrace Allotments site, however this was held in
abeyance and has not been determined. The allotments have since been
formally deallocated.

5.4

The outline permission was not implemented and proposals for different parts
of the area have proceeded as individual full planning applications.

5.5

Farm terrace Allotments
The designation of the former allotments at the north of the site was removed
dated 26 May 2016 to allow for the Health Campus Scheme. High Court and
Judicial Review challenges were unsuccessful. The former allotments are
deallocated.

5.6

History for North side of Thomas Sawyer Way
To the north side of Thomas Sawyer Way, there is the following relevant
history:

Page 81

5.7

An application for enabling works and a new access road to serve a new multi
storey car park and this site (Ref 18/01349/FUL) was granted conditional
planning permission in December 2018.

5.8

The erection of a multi storey car park (Ref 18/01383/FULM) was granted
conditional planning permission in March 2019.

5.9

This application for 192 dwellings and community centre has been submitted
alongside a separate application for the enabling works to the land at the site
under reference 19/00779/FULM. The application for enabling works has not
yet been determined.

5.10

Pre-application discussions
The Riverwell project and this development have been subject to extensive
pre-application discussions between the applicant and planning officers.

5.11

Environmental Impact Assessment
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017 it was determined that an EIA was required for
the development due to its potential cumulative environmental impacts. The
issues for consideration by an Environmental Statement are to include ground
conditions, water resources/flood risk assessment, air quality and socio
economics. Minor amendments have been made to the proposals since they
were submitted as a planning application. However, officers have considered
the potential impacts of these minor design changes and are satisfied that
that they would not result in a need to amend the assessment of potential
effects set out within the submitted Environmental Statement.

5.12

History for the South side of Thomas Sawyer Way
The south side Land to the South of Thomas Sawyer Way has the following
history:
Trade City Ref 15/01246/FULM Development of 12 industrial units
was granted February 2016.
Woodlands- Ref. 17/00178/FULM Development of 95 flats with
associated landscaping, amenity space, access and parking on the land
immediately to the northwest of the application site granted November
2017.
Mayfield - Ref. 17/01543/FULM - Development of 253 Bed Care home
granted April 2018.
Waterside Ref. 17/01511/FULM Development to provide 408
residential dwellings.

Page 82

Planning permission to allow works to prepare the site for the Mayfield
and Waterside developments, including soil remediation and
obstruction removal, (Ref. 17/01162/FULM) was granted planning
permission in January 2018.
6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:
(a) Principle of the development
(b) Layout, scale and design
(c) Dwelling mix
(d) Quality of residential accommodation
(e) Impacts on surrounding properties
(f) Affordable housing provision
(g) Transport, access and servicing
(h) Car and cycle parking
(i) Environmental considerations
(j) S106 Contributions and CIL

6.2

(a) Principle of the development

6.3

Policy SPA3 (Health Campus) of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31
has as its objective to deliver a major mixed use development of this area
including homes and community facilities. The proposed development is fully
in accordance with this objective.

6.4

The overall redevelopment of the former Health Campus site, now known as
Riverwell, is also supported in principle in accordance with the approved
outline permission which includes the southern end of this application site.
The northern section of the application site (former allotments) was not
included within the approved outline permission, however, following the
deallocation of the allotment site the development of this land is also
acceptable in principle.

6.5

In general terms, the provision of new homes on brownfield land is also
supported by policy HS1 of the Core Strategy and Chapter 5 of the NPPF. The
provision of a community centre is supported by policy TLC2 of the Core
Strategy and Chapter 7 of the NPPF.

6.6

(b) Layout, scale and design

Page 83

6.7

The housing design and layout has been approached with an innovative
format and, with regard to successful comparable schemes, proposes higher
density family houses making an efficient use of the site whilst providing much
needed family housing.

6.8

The site layout as a grid formation creates a typical street pattern but with the
benefit of communal amenity areas between many of the terraces. A
vehicular route runs through the site however other key routes into and
through the site are pedestrian only. The development has good pedestrian
permeability with access from the west, a pedestrian link to Occupation Road
to the east and road and pedestrian links to the south to the planned school,
to Cardiff Road and leading to the southern Riverwell zone.

6.9

The built form of the development is in two broad elements. Firstly, flatted
development of between 4 and 8 storeys wrapping around the approved multi
storey car park (MSCP). This has been the intended approach to visually
screen the car park and to successfully address this challenging edge
condition. This height is appropriate in relation to the MSCP, stadium and
hospital buildings to the north and west of the site but without being over
dominant to the remainder of the site. The community centre would be well
designed in respect of its strong frontage into the development and its flexible
layout to facilitate many community uses. The 4-storey element along the
eastern edge of the MSCP would comprise stacked maisonettes and provides
a suitable scale to transition between the MSCP and the lower rise terraces
across the remainder of the site.

6.10

The second building form is terraced houses which provides the majority of
the development. There would be five different housing types providing a mix
of 2 and 3-bedroom homes. The majority of the terraced houses are,
however, of 3 storeys with flat roofs. The terrace nature and height of the
buildings responds successfully to the strong form of the 2 storey terraces
which characterise this area of Watford and as seen at Liverpool Road and
Cardiff Road to the east of the site.

6.11

The buildings are of a contemporary design, with various projecting and
recessed elements, which will create a strong pattern and rhythm along the
new streets. This rhythm will be further created by the stepped nature of
many of the houses and blocks as they respond to the ground level changes.

6.12

With the close separation distances of these buildings, the articulation of the
spaces between the buildings will be key in the creation of a successful place
which does not feel over dominated or cramped by the close proximity of the
buildings. The hard and soft landscaping proposals shown in the Design and

Page 84

Access Statement are of significantly high quality. This landscaping will provide
some attractive and usable communal open spaces and some pleasant vistas
through many parts of the site.
6.13

The applicant has made a number of changes to the proposals, postsubmission, to improve the public realm throughout the site to ensure that it
will be a safe and attractive environment for residents. The northern terrace
has been realigned and more windows have been introduced to gable ends
across the site to improve natural surveillance of the public realm. The
composition of fronts and backs to the terraces has been reviewed to ensure
that the buildings are legible and appropriately address the hierarchy of
streets and spaces across the site. Further landscaping has also been
introduced to soften areas of inactive frontage improving the street
environment. These changes have resulted in an improved quality of urban
design across the site and officers are satisfied that the proposals will result in
a successful residential environment for families.

6.14

(c) Dwelling mix
Policy HS2 of the Core Strategy seeks for developments to provide a suitable
provides a significant and welcomed proportion of family homes with 130
units (68%) of the development being family sized houses. Of those, 106 are 3
bedroom houses providing the most needed dwellings for the town. These are
supported by 12 x 3-bedroom stacked maisonettes which would also provide
high quality family accommodation

6.15

Although the layout and amenity areas of these family homes are not
traditional, having generous private roof terraces or balconies to compensate
for smaller ground floor garden areas, the dwellings would allow for
comfortable family living and the development location and layout has the
potential to create a strong community based around family homes.

6.16

(d) Quality of residential accommodation
The design approach for the development has deviated from some key
guidance points of the Residential Design Guide (RDG) to allow for the higher
density for houses. The approach has, however, sought to achieve residential
amenity in more innovative ways as has been achieved in the comparable
schemes detailed in the Design and Access Statement. The approach is
considered to make efficient use of the site to deliver family homes whilst
maintaining appropriate standards of residential amenity.

6.17

Privacy

Page 85

Residential design standards suggest minimum distances between new
dwellings of 22m back to back and 11m for private gardens. The approach of
this development sees a tighter layout of the houses with mutual distances
below the minimum guidance. As a result, there would be a higher than
expected level of mutual overlooking to almost all the habitable room
windows of all dwellings within the development.
6.18

Site opportunities and design details have sought to mitigate some of this
overlooking. The position of the windows of opposite dwellings have been off
set to create angled rather than direct overlooking. The ground level changes
also mean that there would be some stagger between opposite blocks further
offsetting the windows. The significant trees in the communal areas between
the blocks will also provide screening and a greater sense of privacy. These
features will successfully reduce some potential for overlooking. As seen in
comparable schemes, it is also considered that this higher degree of mutual
overlooking will be an expected general feature of the development and
would not constitute harm to future occupiers.

6.19

Internal Space and Layout
All residential properties will comply with the minimum floorspace of the
nationally described space standard. The internal layout of the houses is
arranged vertically with 3 or 4 storeys to each house however this
arrangement retains opportunities for typical family living.

6.20

Light and outlook
As discussed, the applicant has amended the proposals to ensure that the new
homes enjoy suitable levels of natural light. The applicant has sought to
increase the number of dual aspect homes, and where single aspect cannot be
avoided they have sought to minimise the number of homes that would have
a northerly aspect. Of 192 homes proposed only 20 would have a solely
northern facing aspect. 12 of these homes would be the stacked maisonettes
which have been sited to screen the MSCP and could not therefore have been
avoided. Given the constraints of the site, the proportion of solely northern
aspect units is considered acceptable.

6.21

19 houses would have a solely south facing aspect. These homes would enjoy
sufficient natural light. 11 of these homes are within the northernmost terrace
adjacent to the retaining wall with the stadium. Again, the constraint of the
retaining wall means it would not be possible to locate dual aspect dwellings
in this location without introducing extremely compromised rear gardens.
However, relocating this terrace against the retaining wall has resulted in a
more generous greenspace in front of these homes, ensuring a suitable form
of outlook and greater privacy to these units.

Page 86

6.22

A sunlight and daylight assessment has been undertaken on the original
proposals in accordance with BRE standards. The amendments to the
proposals would possibly improve daylight and sunlight standards so this
assessment is considered to represent a worse-case scenario. The assessment
found that 48 of the 703 habitable rooms of the development (7%) would not
meet the minimum standard for daylight (Average Daylight Factor referred to
as ADF below).

6.23

For the single aspect flats, there are 6 units with reduced ADF to the
kitchen/living/dining areas of each flat. This is mainly due to the deep nature
of the single aspect rooms and the recessed nature of the glazed doors to
these rooms to allow for the recessed balconies. The rooms would also be
south east facing meaning that overall they would have suitable amenity. It is
also noted that the single aspect arrangement of these flats is the only
solution option for this side of the car park.

6.24

Within the original proposals, the other 42 rooms with lower than standard
daylight (ADF) are the ground floor kitchen/living/dining rooms of the
terraced houses. On this basis, whilst some parts of the affected dwellings
would have lower levels of natural light, the upper floors would still meet or
exceed the guidance. The applicant has also introduced roof terraces to some
of those properties affected at lower level to provide greater opportunity to
enjoy natural light. Overall, it is considered that the levels of natural light
across the development would be acceptable within the context of providing
high density family housing.

6.25

In order to prevent overlooking to the neighbouring property at No70 Cardiff
Road, 5 dual aspect houses at the south east corner of the development will
have a window solution that provides light but no outlook to the first floor
bedroom at the rear of the house. This would be the smallest of three with
the light and outlook to the two main bedrooms provided from the front. As
such, it is not considered that this arrangement would undermine the
reasonable living environment of these dwellings.

6.26

Private and communal amenity area
The layout of the dwellings sees family houses without typical private rear
gardens and with private amenity areas below the minimum guidance of the
RDG. The design approach for the development has instead included
communal gardens between the terraces with excellent landscaping proposals
to include informal play space and community gardening opportunities.
Where the backs of dwellings face onto these spaces it will be important that
an appropriate level of activity and overlooking is maintained. The backs of

Page 87

these properties would provide direct access onto these spaces and therefore
in practice occupiers may choose to use the backdoor when leaving the
property depending on the destination of their journey. The applicant has
indicated boundary treatments to the back gardens that would also maintain
a visual connection to these spaces. The final detailed design of these
boundary treatments would be secured by condition.
6.27

As well as the communal areas, all houses and most flats also include areas of
private amenity space consisting of balconies, roof terraces, front terraces
and/or rear courtyards. Although these are below the RDG garden standards
and are not of a typical nature for family houses, these areas will be of
sufficient space to allow for family use opportunities such as outdoor dining.
The layout of these amenity areas, leading from the main living areas and/or
from the master bedrooms, mean that these are well located for maximum
use. As such, the approach to create smaller private gardens with larger
communal garden space is supported for this development.

6.28

Noise Disturbance
The football stadium, the approved multi storey car park, the proposed
community centre and the general activity and traffic of the area will create
noise and activity that could create noise disturbance to the dwellings within
the development. This may particularly affect the dwellings at the north of the
site.

6.29

The noise impact assessment assesses all of these impacts other than the
community centre impact. This assessment has been undertaken to include
noise measurements at the site taken during a home match at the adjacent
stadium. This concludes that, subject to the noise attenuation measures, the
dwellings in the vicinity of the stadium would not experience unreasonable
noise disturbance for other than short periods of time and that this is not
harmful to amenity. These attenuation measures will be secured by condition.

6.30

The assessment concludes that the dwellings backing onto the MSCP, with
windows facing the opposite direction, would not experience detrimental
noise impact. The assessment does not, however, include consideration of the
proposed community centre and the potential for the noise impact of this use
on the dwellings above the centre and in its vicinity. It is, however, considered
that noise disturbance arising from the community centre could be avoided by
appropriate sound insulation and subject to its use within reasonable hours.
Conditions to secure these matters are therefore recommended.

6.31

(e) Impacts on surrounding properties

Page 88

6.32

Liverpool Road
Properties of Liverpool Road back onto Occupation Road along the north-east
side of the site. The new dwellings would have a minimum back to back
distance of 29m to the upper floors of these existing dwellings. This exceeds
the minimum guidance distance of 27.5m as sought by the Residential Design
Guide and will ensure no unreasonable overlooking or loss of amenity to the
Liverpool Road properties.

6.33

Cardiff Road
At the south east corner of the development, No70 Cardiff Road backs onto
Occupation Road at a closer distance. The 5 terraces at the south east end of
the development would have rear windows which infringe the 27.5m distance
and privacy arc to the rear of No70 Cardiff Road.

6.34

The layout and rear window arrangement of these properties will however
ensure that the upper floor windows of these units do not create overlooking
to No70. The main bedrooms have been positioned at the front of the
dwellings. At the rear, there is one single bedroom at first floor level. This is
to have one obscurely glazed window and one projecting bay window which
has a solid finish to the rear and side and clear glazing from the top. This will
allow light to the bedroom but will prevent any overlooking to the rear of 70
Cardiff Road. The two rear windows at second floor would serve a bathroom
and hallway and so are obscurely glazed. This arrangement is secured by
condition and will ensure there is no overlooking or loss of privacy to No70
Cardiff Road.

6.35

Stadium Flats
The development would sit on a lower ground level to the flats on the south
side of the stadium and would not create adverse impact to the amenities of
these dwellings.

6.36

(f) Affordable housing provision

6.37

Compliance with Policy HS3
Policy HS3 of the Core Strategy seeks for 35% of residential developments to
be affordable housing comprising tenures of 65% Affordable rent, 20% Social
rent and 15% Low cost home ownership (LCHO).

6.38

The affordable housing provision and overall tenure of the proposals is shown
by unit number in figure 3 below.
Units

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed Total

Page 89

% of
% of
scheme Affordable

housing
provision
Market
39
25
61
125
65
Affordable
rent
0
0
44
44
23
Social rent
0
0
13
13
7
SO
0
10
0
10
5
Total
39
35
118
192
100
Figure 3: Affordable housing provision by Unit Number

66
19
15
100

6.39

As demonstrated above this application broadly meets the affordable housing
policy requirements of 35% affordable housing, then split 65% affordable
rents, 20% social rents and 15% LCHO. The affordable housing provision would
be in general conformity with policy HS3 of the Core Strategy and is
considered acceptable.

6.40

(g) Transport, access and servicing

6.41

The location is suited for new development in accordance with policy T2 of
the Location of New Development. As supported by the transport assessment
and response from the Highways Authority, there are no concerns or
objections to the development in highway terms.

6.42

The development has suitable access from the road as already approved from
the roundabout with Thomas Sawyer Way. The development creates a new
appropriate road through the development with access and egress from the
junction at the south of the site. The junction to the west of the site is exit
only to allow another opportunity for traffic to leave the site and to minimise
traffic movements within the site. Additional pedestrian routes into and
through the site create good pedestrian access and permeability.

6.43

The submitted waste management scheme demonstrates the appropriate
waste servicing of the development.

6.44

Hertfordshire County Council as the Highway Authority has raised no
objection to the development subject to recommended conditions.

6.45

(h) Car and cycle parking
The development provides 167 car parking spaces of which 10 will be
allocated to the community centre and 157 for the dwellings. This is a ratio of
0.82 parking spaces per dwelling.

Page 90

6.46

The site is identified within zone 4 of the Car and Cycle Parking Standards Map
of the Watford District Plan 2000. Appendix 2 of the Watford District Plan sets
maximum standards for car parking provision based on the identified zone. In
accordance with these standards, the development should not have more
than 370.5 car spaces for the new dwellings and no more than 44 for the
community centre. The proposed car parking spaces are within those
the Watford District Plan 2000.

6.47

The parking provision has been kept low at a ratio of 0.82 space per dwelling
in order to minimise the highway and environmental impact and minimise the
visual dominance of parked cars on the site. This is supported as the site is in a
sustainable location with access to public transport and amenities. The
development would be located outside the nearby controlled parking zone
meaning that the residents of the development would not have entitlement to
park within the surrounding residential roads which are subject to residents
permit parking. This lower level of on site parking would therefore not result
in increased overspill
policy T24 of the Watford District Plan 2000.

6.48

The allocation of the 157 parking spaces between the 192 dwellings has not
been specified and this is secured by condition to ensure that there is an
appropriate allocation between the dwellings in respect of the dwelling size
and tenure.

6.49

Appropriate cycle parking is provided for the development to support cycling
option in accordance with saved policy T10 of the Watford District Plan 2000.

6.50

(i) Environmental considerations

6.51

Environmental Impact Assessment
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017 it was determined that an EIA was required to
consider the matters of ground conditions, water resources/flood risk
assessment, air quality and socio economics and an appropriate
Environmental Statement was submitted.

6.52

The relevant consultations for the EIA application and the Environmental
Statement have been undertaken and no objections from technical consultees
have been received.

6.53

Contamination

Page 91

The Environment Agency raises no objection to the development in respect of
ground water contaminations. The relevant conditions required by the EA in
respect of ground water contamination are added to the recommendation.
6.54

The WBC contamination officer has raised no objection in respect of ground
contamination issues and the required measures are secured by conditions.

6.55

Flooding/Surface water drainage
The site is within flood zone 1 of low flood risk. Surface water drainage
matters are to the satisfaction of the Lead Local Flood Authority and detailed
requirements are secured by condition.

6.56

Archaeology
The application is accompanied by a Heritage Statement. This finds that there
is a low potential of local value archaeology and recommends that a Written
Statement of Investigation be submitted and approved prior to
commencement of works. This is agreed by the heritage officer at
Hertfordshire County Council and the relevant condition is added.

6.57

Trees and landscaping
There are no trees on site that are of value to retain. High quality landscaping
will be critical to the success of the design of this scheme. Significant detail is
provided in the Design and Access Statement however full details are secured
by condition.

6.58

Biodiversity
Natural England and Hertfordshire Ecology have made no objection to the
development. It is noted that the development offers opportunity for
enhancements to the biodiversity of the site and this is secured by condition.

6.59

(j) S106 Contributions and CIL
The development site lies within one of the Major Developed Areas identified
that the development will mitigate its individual impacts through a bespoke
S106 agreement. The development forms part of what was originally known
as the Health Campus Site and the need for S106 contributions to mitigate the
harm of the overall development was subject to detailed consideration and
secured under planning permission 14/00511/OUTM. Other sites within the
development area (Waterside and Woodland) have secured a proportional
share of contributions originally set out. As such it is appropriate for this
development to include a proportional share of the contributions.

Page 92

6.60

Having regard to this history the S106 will secure the contributions as set out
in section 8 of this report. These requirements for the S106 are consistent
with the requirements set out through the history of the site and adequate to
mitigate the wider impacts of the proposed development.

7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

The planning application has been subject to statutory public consultation.
The summaries below include the details of all responses.

7.2

Statutory consultees and other organisations
Name of Statutory
Consultee / Other
Organisation
Secretary of State (EIA
notification)
Environment Agency
HCC Lead Local Flood
Authority

HCC Local Highway
Authority

Comment

Officer Response

No objection

Noted

No objection subject to
conditions
Initial objection however
additional detail provided
has overcome this
objection. LLFA has now
confirmed no objection
subject to conditions.
No objections subject to
conditions. S106
contributions requested
towards diversion of bus
services to serve the
development.

Noted and conditions
added.
Noted and conditions
added.

No response received
HCC waste and minerals
HCC Growth and
Infrastructure

Contributions required for
primary and secondary
education as already
agreed with WBC. Updated
figures for the revised

Page 93

Noted. Conditions
added. The case officer
has requested HCC
provide a figure of the
S106 figure requested
however this has not yet
been provided. This
cannot therefore be
requested.
Relevant waste matters
considered as part of
the application.
Noted and added.

scheme have been
provided.
Herts Constabulary
They have been involved in Noted
Crime Prevention Design design stages and there
Service
are no objections.
HCC Fire and rescue
service
HCC Safety Advisory
Group

HCC Archaeology

Thames Water
Affinity Water

Hertfordshire Ecology

Natural England
7.2

Fire Hydrants to be
secured by s106
No objection however here
are concerns regarding
emergency access/egress
from the stadium on event
days during construction
and this should be
protected by condition.
There is potential for
archaeological remains and
conditions are required in
respect of this.
No objection subject to
condition re piling
Objection to development
due to potential harm and
contamination to water
supply

Noted and included in
S106 heads of terms.
Noted and these are
included in the
Construction
Management Plan

Noted and condition
added
Noted and condition
added
The Environment
Agency have considered
all relevant water
contamination issues
and they have
recommended condition
to secure this.
Noted and agreed.
Condition is added.

The site is now cleared
with low ecological value
however condition is
requested to seek
biodiversity improvements
No objection

Noted

Comment

Officer Response

Previously raised concerns
remain in respect of the
quality of the public realm,

Noted. The scheme
design has been
amended to address

Internal Consultees
Name of Internal
Consultee
Planning Policy WBC

Page 94

the lack of
activity/surveillance to the
gable ends, the number of
single aspect units and the
poor amenity for some
dwellings
The affordable housing
offer is compliant with
policy in respect of
quantity and tenure split.
Noted that it does not
make up the shortfall of
previous phases. Also
some concern regarding
the tenure arrangements
and genuine affordability.

these poitns and this is
discussed in detail in the
report

Bin storage is provided.

Environmental Health,
WBC

Bin allocation
requirements provided.
No objection subject to
conditions. To note these
conditions from Watford
Environmental Health is
relevant to human health
implications from
contamination whereas
Environment Agency is
specific to ground water
contamination issues.
Amended details have
overcome the requirement
for the remediation
strategy previously
required.
No comment in respect of
noise attenuation issues

Arboricultural Officer,
WBC

No objection Trees to be
removed are of low value

Head of Housing WBC

Waste & Recycling
Team, WBC
Environmental Health:
Contamination Officer,
WBC

Page 95

Noted and discussed in
detail in the report. The
affordable housing
provision complies with
relevant planning policy.

Noted and conditions
added..

Unfortunately no advice
from EH has been
provided in respect of
noise issues however
the case officer has
reviewed the noise
matters in the report.
Noted and agreed.
Replacement trees

Economic development
officer, WBC
7.3

and these removals are
offset by the replacement
planting.
No comments

secured under
landscaping conditions.
Noted

Interested parties
Letters were sent to 310 properties in the surrounding area. Responses have
been received from 3 properties. The main comments are summarised below,
the full letters are available to view online:
Comments
The houses backing onto
Occupation Road will be too close
to the Road and Liverpool Road
properties resulting in loss of
privacy and light to the Liverpool
Road properties

The houses backing onto
Occupation Road would be too
close to the Road and would be
too close to each other creating
the appearance of one large
block.

8.

Officer response
The houses would have a minimum distance
of 29m to the first floor rears of the houses
at Liverpool Road. This exceeds the
minimum standard of 27.5m and will ensure
there is no unreasonable loss of privacy to
these properties. The three storey height of
these buildings, at this distance, would not
create loss of light or overshadowing to the
gardens at Liverpool Road.
The rear of these houses are close to
Occupation Road with unusually small rear
gardens. Occupation Road is however by
nature a rear road to the Liverpool Road
properties and this relationship is not
harmful or dominant. The houses are set in
blocks of terraces which is consistent with
the form of houses in the area. These blocks
will be separated by gaps but also with a
gradual stagger in height as the group step
up the hill.

Recommendation
That, pursuant to a planning obligation under s.106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 having been completed to secure the following Heads of
Terms, planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:
Section 106 Heads of Terms

Page 96

i)

To secure a minimum of 67 units of the development to be Affordable
Housing units comprising a minimum of:
12No. x 3 bed 5 person social rented maisonettes
1 No. x 3 bed 5 person social rented house units
44No. x 3 bed 5 person affordable rented houses
5No. x 2 bed 4 person shared ownership flats
5No. x 2 bed 3 person shared ownership flats

ii)

To secure a financial payment to Hertfordshire County Council of
£1,101,400 (index linked) for the provision of primary school education
services, subject to recalculation in accordance with Hertfordshire
Affordable Housing provision.

iii)

To secure a financial payment to Hertfordshire County Council of
£320,091 (index linked) for the provision of secondary school education
services, subject to recalculation in accordance with Hertfordshire
Affordable Housing provision.

iv)

To secure a financial payment to Hertfordshire County Council of
£6,000 for the long term monitoring of the proposed Travel Plan for the
site;

v)

To secure the provision of fire hydrants to serve the site as required by
Hertfordshire County Council;

Conditions
1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within
a period of 3 years commencing on the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved drawings:147_TPE_0004 Rev 03- Location Plan
147_TPE_0011 - Rev 03- Existing Site Plan
147_TPE_3001 - Rev 03- Existing Sections A-A / B-B

Page 97

147_TPE_3011 - Rev 03- Existing Section C-C
147_TPE_3021 - Rev 03- Existing Sections D-D / E-E
147_TPE_3031 - Rev 03- Existing Section F-F
147_TPE_3041 - Rev 03- Existing Section G-G
147_TPP_0011 - Rev 05- Proposed Site Plan
147_TPP_0021 - Rev 03- Proposed Block Plan
147_TPP_1001 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect
147_TPP_1011 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans 3B5P Single Aspect
147_TPP_1041 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Ground Floor
147_TPP_1051 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - First Floor
147_TPP_1061 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Second Floor
147_TPP_1071 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Third Floor
147_TPP_1081 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Fourth Floor
147_TPP_1091 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Fifth Floor
147_TPP_1101 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Sixth Floor
147_TPP_1111 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Seventh Floor
147_TPP_1121 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Service Floor
147_TPP_1131 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - Flats and Community
Centre - Roof Plan
147_TPP_1141 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - 3B5P Dual Aspect
Gable 1
147_TPP_1151 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans - 3B5P Dual Aspect
Gable 2
147_TPP_1201 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect
Occupation Road Gable 1
147_TPP_1211 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect
Occupation Road Gable 2
147_TPP_1251 - Rev 05- Proposed Plans 3B5P Single Aspect
Gable 1
147_TPP_1291 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect with
Front Communal Terrace
147_TPP_1301 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect with
Rear Communal Terrace
147_TPP_1311 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 2B4P Single Aspect

Page 98

with Roof Terrace
147_TPP_1321 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Single Aspect
Maisonette Lower Unit
147_TPP_1331 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Block Plan
147_TPP_1341 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect with
Front Communal Terrace Gable 1
147_TPP_1351 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect with
Front Communal Terrace Gable 2
147_TPP_1361 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect with
Rear Communal Terrace Gable 1
147_TPP_1371 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Dual Aspect with
Rear Communal Terrace Gable 2
147_TPP_1381 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 2B4P Single Aspect
with Roof Terrace Gable 1
147_TPP_1391 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 2B4P Single Aspect
with Roof Terrace Gable 2
147_TPP_1401 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 2B4P Single Aspect
with Roof Terrace Gable 3
147_TPP_1411 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 2B4P Single Aspect
with Roof Terrace Gable 4
147_TPP_1421 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Single Aspect
Maisonette Gable 1
147_TPP_1431 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Single Aspect
Maisonette Gable 2
147_TPP_1441 - Rev 01- Proposed Plans 3B5P Single Aspect
Gable 2
147_TPP_2021 - Rev 05- Proposed Elevation - Flats and
Community Centre - South East
147_TPP_2031 - Rev 05- Proposed Elevation - Flats and
Community Centre - North West
147_TPP_2041 - Rev 05- Proposed Elevations - Flats and
Community Centre - South West & North East
147_TPP_2051 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 1
147_TPP_2061 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 2
147_TPP_2071 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 3
147_TPP_2081 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 4
147_TPP_2091 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 5
147_TPP_2101 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 6
147_TPP_2111 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 7
147_TPP_2121 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 8
147_TPP_2131 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 9
147_TPP_2141 - Rev 05- Proposed Elevations - House Block 10
147_TPP_2151 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 11 - A

Page 99

147_TPP_2161 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 11 - B
147_TPP_2171 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Block 11 - C
147_TPP_2181 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Type Gable
Elevations A
147_TPP_2191 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Type Gable
Elevations B
147_TPP_2201 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Type Gable
Elevations C
147_TPP_2211 - Rev 03- Proposed Elevations - House Type Gable
Elevations D
147_TPP_2221 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations - 3B5P
Dual Aspect with Front Communal Terrace
147_TPP_2231 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations - 3B5P
Dual Aspect with Rear Communal Terrace
147_TPP_2241 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 2B4P
Single Aspect with Roof Terrace
147_TPP_2251 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Single Aspect Maisonette Units
147_TPP_2261 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Dual Aspect with Front Communal Terrace Gable 1
147_TPP_2271 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Dual Aspect with Front Communal Terrace Gable 2
147_TPP_2281 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Dual Aspect with Rear Communal Terrace Gable 1
147_TPP_2291 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Dual Aspect with Rear Communal Terrace Gable 2
147_TPP_2301 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 2B4P
Single Aspect with Roof Terrace Gable 1
147_TPP_2311 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 2B4P
Single Aspect with Roof Terrace Gable 2
147_TPP_2321 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 2B4P
Single Aspect with Roof Terrace Gable 3
147_TPP_2331 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 2B4P
Single Aspect with Roof Terrace Gable 4
147_TPP_2341 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Single Aspect Maisonette Units Gable 1
147_TPP_2341 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Single Aspect Maisonette Units Gable 2
147_TPP_2351 - Rev 01- Proposed House Type Elevations 3B5P
Single Aspect Gable 2
147_TPP_3001 - Rev 03- Proposed Sections A-A / B-B
147_TPP_3011 - Rev 03- Proposed Section C-C
147_TPP_3021 - Rev 03- Proposed Sections D-D / E-E

Page 100

147_TPP_3031 - Rev 03- Proposed Section F-F
147_TPP_3041 - Rev 04- Proposed Section G-G
147_TPP_3051 - Rev 01- Proposed Section H-H
147_Land North of Thomas Sawyer Way_Design & Access
Statement_REV 03
Design & Access Statement Addendum 15/01/2020
Accommodation Schedule
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the phasing
plan shown in section 3.2.11 of the Design and Access Statement.
Reason: To secure a phasing plan such that the discharge of other
conditions on this consent can be appropriately timed and not
unnecessarily delay commencement of various phases of the
development. In accordance with good practice.

4.

Within 3 months of the occupation of each phase of development, a
verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in
the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the
remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local
planning authority.
The approved remediation reports are:
Outline Remediation Strategy - Enabling Works - Watford
Riverwell Northern Masterplan Housing on land to the north of
Thomas Sawyer Way and School Site (Waterman Document Ref:
WIE11284-102-R-12-4-2-RS dated November 2019)
Foundation Works Risk Assessment (FWRA) - Enabling Works for
Land to the North of Thomas Sawyer Way, Watford (Waterman
Document Ref: WIE11284-102-R-23-1-2-FWRA dated November
2019)
The verification report shall include results of sampling and monitoring
carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to
human health or the water environment by demonstrating that the
requirements of the approved verification plan have been met and that
remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with paragraph 170 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 101

This condition is in line with Section 5 of the Outline Remediation
Strategy
where
record of the works described above will be prepared upon the
completion of the enabling works and associated groundwater
5.

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be
carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the local planning authority. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is
not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified
contamination sources at the development site. This is in line with
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

6.

No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground
are permitted other than with the prior written consent of the local
planning authority. Any proposals for such systems must be supported
by an assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is
not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised
contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

7.

A scheme for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of
soils, groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
commencing work on the borehole. The scheme shall provide details of
how redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any
boreholes that need to be retained, post-development, for monitoring
purposes will be secured, protected and inspected. The scheme as
approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any part of
the permitted development.

Page 102

Reason: The reports submitted to date confirm that monitoring wells
have been installed across the site. Additionally, installation of further
monitoring wells is required to investigate groundwater resources
issues. If these boreholes are not decommissioned correctly they can
provide preferential pathways for contaminant movement which poses
a risk to groundwater quality. Groundwater is particularly sensitive in
this location because the proposed development site is within Source
Protection Zone 1.
This condition is in line with Section 4.2.4 of the
Strategy
whereby boreholes will be
decommissioned in line with Environment Agency Guidance.
8.

Piling, deep foundations and other intrusive groundworks using
penetrative methods shall not be carried out other than with the prior
written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed piling, deep foundations and
other intrusive groundworks does not harm groundwater resources in
line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
nt

9.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved Outline
Remediation Strategy Enabling Works (Report ref. WIE11284-102-R12-4-2-RS) and the Outline Remediation Strategy Construction Works
(Report ref. WIE11284-102-R-16-4-1-RS) prepared by Waterman
Infrastructure & Environment Limited and within 3 months of the first
use or occupation of each phase of the development, a verification
report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried
out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and
maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes
relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and
maintenance programme shall be implemented.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

Page 103

10.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must
be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken, and where
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared,
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved
remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

11.

No demolition/development shall take place/commence until works
carried out in accordance with the programme of archaeological works
set out in the approved Written Scheme of Investigation, prepared by
Mo Muldowney, dated 12/03/2020, have been completed.
The development shall not be occupied/used until the site investigation
and post investigation assessment has been completed in accordance
with the programme set out in the approved Written Scheme of
Investigation and the provision made for analysis and publication
where appropriate.
Reason: There are likely archaeological implications of this
development proposal and this condition is required to provide suitable
provision and protection for archaeology pursuant to Policy 16 (para.
199, etc.) of the National Planning Policy Framework.

12.

No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
Plan. The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall include details of:
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;
b. Access arrangements to the site;
c. Traffic management requirements
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for
car parking, loading / unloading and turning areas);

Page 104

e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public
highway;
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and
removal of waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of
construction activities;
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and
temporary access to the public highway;
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should
be submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent
of hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle
movements.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other
users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with
(adopted 2018).
13.

Prior to first occupation of any part of the development, the applicant
shall submit a Servicing and Delivery Plan. This plan is to be submitted
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Servicing
and Delivery Plan shall contain the delivery and servicing requirements
(including refuse collection) for the proposed use, a scheme for
coordinating deliveries and servicing for the proposed development,
areas within the development site that will be used for loading and
manoeuvring of delivery and servicing vehicles, and access to / from the
site for delivery and servicing vehicles.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other
users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with
(adopted 2018).

14.

Prior to the commencement of any highway works forming part of the
development hereby permitted full details in the form of scaled plans
and written specifications shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority to illustrate the following:
i. Roads, footways, foul and on-site water drainage.
ii. Existing and proposed access arrangements including visibility splays.
iii. Parking provision in accordance with adopted standard.
iv. Cycle parking provision in accordance with adopted standard.

Page 105

v. Servicing areas, loading areas and turning areas for all vehicles.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other
users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with
(adopted 2018).
15.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a
temporary vehicular access strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
temporary vehicular access strategy shall be implemented in full prior
to first occupation of the development and shall be maintained until
the permanent vehicular access has been provided as shown on the
approved plan drawing number (MBSK20190306-1 Rev A). The
permanent vehicular access shall be maintained for the lifetime of the
development. Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage
for both the temporary and permanent vehicular access to be
intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge
from or onto the highway carriageway.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of
extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway in
n
(adopted 2018).

16.

Prior to the occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted, each car
parking bay available to that dwelling shall incorporate access to an
Electric Vehicle ready domestic charging point.
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to
promote sustainable development in accordance with Policies 5, 19 and

17.

At least 3 months prior to the first occupation of the approved
development a revised detailed Travel Plan for the site, based upon the
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented at all times.
The revised Travel Plan should include the following:
- A named contact from the developer who HCC can contact if TPC
details are not sent over. This person from the developer could act as
the interim TPC until someone is officially appointed

Page 106

- Other measures to maximise cycling and walking. The TP should
include initiatives such as walk to work week, organise cycling
competitions within this site and with the others.
- There is no mention of the provision of sustainable travel vouchers.
- Some amendments are advised in comparison to TPs and evaluations
for other plots on the site.
- Monitoring, specifically the questionnaires, should be completed
annually.
- The baseline survey should be completed at 50% occupancy level (97
dwellings) in either the October or March following this trigger.
Reason: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the
development are promoted and maximised to be in accordance with
(adopted 2018).
18.

The development permitted by this planning permission shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved drainage strategy
produced by Ramboll, project number 1620005572, version 5, dated
November 2019:
1. Limiting the surface water runoff generated by the critical storm
events so that it will not exceed the surface water runoff rate of 5.6 l/s
for Phase 1 and 5.1 l/s for Phase 2 during the 1 in 100 year event plus
40% of climate change event.
2. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water runoff
volumes for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus
climate change event providing storage of 335 m3 in permeable paving
with sub-base and 474 m3 in two underground tanks (or such storage
agreed with the LPA) for Phase 1 and 335 m3 in permeable paving with
sub-base and 415 m3 in two underground tanks (or such storage
agreed with the LPA) for Phase 2.
3. Discharge of surface water from the private drainage network into
the existing Thames Water surface water sewer via two connections.
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing
arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and
storage of surface water from the site. To reduce the risk of flooding to
the proposed development and future occupants.

Page 107

19.

No development approved by this planning permission shall take place
until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme
shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved
details before the development is completed.
The surface water drainage scheme should include;
1. Final, detailed modelling for the propose drainage network to
demonstrate how the system operates during up to and including the 1
in 100 year critical duration storm event including plus 40% allowance
for climate change. This should include drain down times for all storage
features.
2. Final, detailed drainage plan including the location of all SuDS
features, pipe runs, invert levels and discharge points.
3. Full, detailed engineering drawings of all SuDS features including
cross and long sections, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and
outlet features connecting.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development
and future users.

20.

Upon completion of the drainage works for each phase, in accordance
with the phasing arrangements, a management and maintenance plan
for the SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The plan shall include;
1. Provision of complete set of as built drawings including the final
drainage layout for each phase for site drainage network.
2. Maintenance and operational activities for the period or the lifetime
of the development.
3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development
and future users.

21.

No piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the
depth and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by
which such piling will be carried out, including measures to prevent and
minimise the potential for damage to subsurface sewerage
infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been submitted

Page 108

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in
consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in
accordance with the terms of the approved piling method statement.
Reason: As requested by Thames Water. The proposed works will be in
close proximity to underground sewerage utility infrastructure. Piling
has the potential to impact on local underground sewerage utility
infrastructure. The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water
Developer Services on 0800 009 3921 to discuss the details of the piling
method statement.
22.

No external facing materials shall be installed on the building until full
details and samples of all the materials to be used for the external
surfaces of the building have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and
the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy
UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

23.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a detailed hard
landscaping scheme for the site, including details of the gardens,
boundary treatments and external lighting has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the works
have been carried out in accordance with the approved details. The
detailed scheme shall be based upon the Landscape Proposals of the
approved drawings.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
wider area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan
Core Strategy 2006-31.

24.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a detailed soft
landscaping scheme for the site, appropriate irrigation systems, and a
landscape management and maintenance plan, has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The detailed
scheme shall be based upon the Landscape Proposals of the approved
drawings. The approved soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out
not later than the first available planting and seeding season after
completion of development. Any trees or plants whether new or
existing which within a period of five years die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting

Page 109

season with others of similar size and species, or in accordance with
details approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
wider area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan
Core Strategy 2006-31.
25.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a Biodiversity and
Landscape Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of how it is planned
to incorporate biodiversity as part of the development, the species to
be planted, and the location of habitat boxes/structures and how the
site will be managed and maintained for the long term benefit of local
wildlife.
Reason: As requested by Hertfordshire Ecology to ensure that
biodiversity objectives and long term maintenance are realised.

26.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the details of car parking allocation
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning.
The provision shall include an agreed allocation of on site residential
car parking spaces for use by the community centre, affordable housing
dwellings and open market dwellings. The car parking spaces shall
remain available for use by the community centre and allocated
residential dwellings, in accordable with the agreed allocations, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority
Reason: To ensure a suitable allocation of car parking spaces for the
affordable housing provision.

27.

Prior to the occupation of each dwelling, the bin storage for the use of
the occupants of that dwelling shall be provided in accordance with the
approved drawings and the bin strategy as detailed in sections 3.7.1 to
3.7.5 of the approved Design and Access Statement . These facilities
shall be retained at all times for the use of the residential occupiers of
the dwellings.
Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities exist for the future occupiers
of the dwellings, in accordance with saved Policy SE7 of the Watford
District Plan 2000, Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy
2006-31 and the Residential Design Guide 2016.

Page 110

28.

Prior to the use of the community centre, the bin storage for the use of
the premises shall be provided in accordance with the approved
drawings and the bin strategy as detailed in sections 3.7.1 to 3.7.5 of
the approved Design and Access Statement. These facilities shall be
retained at all times for the user of the community centre.
Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities exist for the future users of
the community centre, in accordance with saved Policy SE7 of the
Watford District Plan 2000, Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core
Strategy 2006-31 and the Residential Design Guide 2016.

29.

Prior to the occupation of each dwelling bicycle storage for the use of
the occupants of that dwelling shall be provided in accordance with the
approved drawings. These facilities shall be retained at all times for the
use of the residential occupiers of the dwellings.
Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities exist for the future occupiers
of the dwellings, in accordance with saved Policy T10 the Watford
District Plan 2000, Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy
2006-31 and the Residential Design Guide 2016.

30.

No dwelling shall be occupied until details of a communal terrestrial
television aerial(s) and satellite dish(es) have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the
buildings of the development, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31

31.

No flat of the mixed use building at west side of the development shall
be occupied until a detailed scheme for sound insulation of all partitions
separating the flats and adjoining community centre has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and all works
which form part of the scheme have been completed.
Reason: The Noise Impact Assessment did not include consideration of
this proposed mix of uses and this condition is required so as to protect
the future occupiers of the development from noise disturbance,
pursuant to saved Policy SE22 of the Watford District Plan 2000 and
Policy SS1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-2031.

32.

The premises shall be used only as a Community Centre within Use
Class D1 and shall be used for no other purpose, including any other

Page 111

purposes within Class D1 of the Schedule to the Town and Country
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as amended by the Use Classes
(Amendment) Order 2005.
Reason: Other uses including other D1 uses may not be suitable for the
premises and would require consideration on their own merits pursuant
ct Plan 2000 and policies
SS1, SD1 and UD1 of Watford Local Plan, Part 1: Core Strategy 2006-31.
33.

The community centre premises hereby permitted shall not be
operated on these premises before 7am or after 1am on weekdays and
Saturdays and not before 8am or after 12 midnight on Sundays and
Public Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities and quiet enjoyment of
neighbouring properties pursuant to Policy SS1 of the Watford Local
Plan, Part 1: Core Strategy 2006-31.

34.

The dwellings at the north and north west of the development (shown
as sections 1, 3 and 6 of the phasing plan of section 3.2.11 of the
Design and Access Statement) shall have a façade treatment of:
Acoustically attenuated trickle vent- 38dB Dne,w/; and
Standard thermal double glazing (6/12/6) 32dB Rw.
Reason: To minimise potential noise impact of the stadium to proposed
dwellings in its vicinity, as recommended in section 9.2 of the Noise
Impact assessment and in accordance with Policy SS1 of the Watford
Local Plan, Part 1: Core Strategy 2006-31.

35.

The 5 terrace houses in the south-east corner of the development,
which back onto Occupation Road and 70 Cardiff Road, (identified as
Location 5 in section 3.8.3 of the Design and access statement) shall
have the windows of their rear (northeast) elevations installed and
retained inaccordance with the details of section 3.8.7 of the Design
and Access Statement. Specifically, the rear facing first floor bedroom
windows shall be a projecting bay with solid panels to the north-east
and south-east faces. The north west side of the projecting bays shall
be obscurely glazed and non-opening other than in parts of the window
which are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which
the window is installed. All other windows on the rear (north-east)
elevation of these 5 houses shall be installed and retained with
obscure-glazing, which shall be non-opening other than in parts of the

Page 112

windows which are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room
in which the window is installed. These windows shall be retained as
specified unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To prevent overlooking and consequent loss of privacy to
neighbouring premises pursuant to Policy UD1 (Delivering High Quality
Design) of the Watford Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2006-2031 and the
Residential Design Guide (2016).
36.

No parts of the flat roofs of the development, with the exception of
those areas marked as terraces and balconies on the drawings hereby
approved, shall be used as terraces, balconies or other open amenity
spaces.
Reason: To prevent overlooking and consequent loss of privacy to the
occupiers of the development pursuant to the provisions of the
Residential Design Guide (RDG) and paragraph 17 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

37.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any
modification or re-enactment thereof), no development permitted
under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E or F, or under Schedule 2
Part 2 Class A of the Order shall be carried out to the dwellings hereby
approved without the prior written permission of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: The development design and layout adopts a form and layout
of closely located dwellings. This will enable the Local Planning
Authority to ensure that any extensions/alterations are carried out in a
manner which will not be harmful to the amenity provision of the
occupiers, character and appearance of the proposed development,
and will not prove detrimental to the amenities of adjoining occupiers,
in accordance with Policy UD1 (Delivering High Quality Design) of the
Watford Local Plan Part 1 Core Strategy.

38.

The junction of the development to the south west of the site, adjacent
to the community centre, shall be exit only from the development and
shall be retained as such unless otherwise approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority

Page 113

Reason: In accordance with the traffic assessment and to minimise
traffic though the site.
Informatives
IN907 Consideration of proposal in a positive and proactive manner
IN909 Street Numbering and Naming
IN910 Building Regulations
IN911 Party Wall Act
IN912 Hours of Construction
IN915 Highway Works HCC agreement required

Page 114

Site Location Plan

Page 115

Proposed Site Plan (February 2020) - Superseded

Proposed Site Plan (April 2020) Current Proposal

Page 116

Tenure Distribution

Page 117

Houses
2B4P

3B5P Single Aspect (southern)

Page 118

3B5P Dual Aspect House (Type1)

3B5P Maisonette

Page 119

Flats and Community Centre

Ground Floor

Page 120

Page 121

Gable End

Page 122

Page 123

Appendix 2
Amended Housing Tenure Mix

Page 124

